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The translation into Chinese language of this annual report is for reference only.
In case of any inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Financial Results and Business Review

| would like to report the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025. During the year, the Group recorded a profit from operations
before valuation changes in investment properties of HK$188.7 million (2024:
HK$188.8 million). Since the valuation losses on investment properties
amounted to HK$753.8 million (2024: net valuation gains of HK$230.9 million),
the Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of HK$322.0
million (2024: a profit of HK$193.7 million). The valuation changes will only
affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows of the Group. Details
of the financial results and business performance and development are set out

in the Directors’ Report on pages 67 to 84.

Dividends

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.08 per share for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$0.10 per share). As the Company
paid an interim dividend of HK$0.06 per share during the year (2024: HK$0.06
per share), the total distribution will be HK$0.14 per share for the year (2024:
HK$0.16 per share).

Annual General Meeting
The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday,
5 September 2025.

Acknowledgement
Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to thank all our staff for their devotion and
dedication, and would like to thank our professional advisors and our members

for their support in the past year.

Cheong Kheng Lim

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Properties

E A

iISQUARE

iISQUARE is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui at the intersection of Nathan
Road and Peking Road. It is the first one-stop shopping and entertainment
complex linked to Tsim Sha Tsui MTR station. This complex provides 56,000
square metres of space comprising a shopping podium, cinema box and

tower.

The podium is a vibrant hub for world-class fashion and lifestyle brands,
complemented by five grand cineplexes, including a 458-seat digital IMAX
theatre. ISQUARE also features fine-dining restaurants and lifestyle services in

its iconic tower.

Goodluck Industrial Centre

Four floors of Goodluck Industrial Centre belong to the Company. The
properties are for automobile showrooms, vehicle workshops, carparking
spaces and a petrol-filling station. The centre is located in Lai Chi Kok,

Kowloon.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company recognises responsibilities to its shareholders and is therefore
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. To
accomplish this, the Company has reviewed its practices and procedure, and

identified and formalised appropriate measures and policies.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing

Rules”), except for the deviations as disclosed hereunder:

Code Provision C.1.8: Appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged

Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for legal action against
its Directors. After taking into account the business nature and operational
complexity and diversity of the Group, as well as the close supervision of and
prudent approach adopted by the management, the Board believes that the
Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation in their capacity as
Directors is relatively low. Benefits to be derived from taking out insurance may
not outweigh the cost. Despite it, every Director is, subject to the provisions of
the applicable laws, indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant
to the Articles of Association of the Company. In view of the above, the Board

considers that the Directors’ exposure to risk is manageable.
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Code Provision C.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and performed by two
individuals

The roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are
taken up by the same person. To avoid concentration of power and authority
in any one individual, the Executive Directors have been sharing the day-to-
day management of the Company’s business whilst the Board is collectively
responsible for formulation of objectives and strategic decisions. In addition,
the Board comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)
with differing expertise/calibre who can provide a “check and balance” effect
on the management through their high attendance at board meetings and
active roles in board committees whereby ensuring a balance of power. Given
consideration to the aforesaid, the Board of Directors is of the view that the
structure of CEO duality does not have any adverse effect on the Company
and believes that the current structure enables the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently on the one hand while achieving

an equilibrium of power on the other.

Code Provision D.2.5: Issuer should have an internal
audit function and review the need for one in case of its
absence annually

At present, the Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board
reviewed the need for setting up one in March 2025 and considered that
there was no such immediate need after taking into account the Group’s
current circumstances, such as the focused nature and geographical spread
of business, the relatively simple operating structure and small size of the
Group and the close involvement and supervision of the management in
daily operation, which could provide sufficient risk management and internal
control for the Group. Despite it, the Board has taken initiatives to promote
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems by creating a control environment across the Group (such as building
up a corporate culture based on sound business ethics and accountability
through the implementation of whistleblowing policy and procedure manuals
with defined roles, responsibilities and reporting lines) and putting control
activities in place (such as conducting group-wide risk assessment exercise
biannually). In addition, where the external auditor of the Company considers
any internal controls that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements, it
will report to the audit committee any significant deficiencies in internal control

identified during the audit.
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In view of the above considerations, together with the review result on the
effectiveness of the existing control mechanism and the potential cost to be
involved, the Board is of the opinion that it is not cost effective to set up and
maintain an internal audit function for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board

will review the need for one on an annual basis.

Code Provision E.1.5: Remuneration details of senior
management should be disclosed by band in annual
reports

The remuneration details of the senior management are not disclosed by band
in the annual report. To ensure they are remunerated at a reasonable but not
excessive rate, none of them is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration
or related to the remuneration committee members (who are all INEDs and
authorised to collectively determine the remuneration of the senior management
based on a number of factors set out in the Company’s remuneration policy).
The Directors consider that the non-disclosure does not pose any negative
impact on the Company. On the contrary, the disclosure of the remuneration
details of the senior management may cause undue comparison among staff
members, and would unnecessarily provide highly sensitive and confidential
information to competitors and other third parties looking to recruit the senior
management. In light of the above, the Directors are of the view that the
disclosure of such information would neither provide pertinent information in
furtherance of corporate governance, nor be in the interests of the members of

the Company.
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2025

comprised the following members:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi

Mr Cheong Sim Lam

Ms Cheong Chong Ling

Mr Cheong Tiong Ham

Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Mr Wong Yiu Tak

Mr Tse Pang Yuen

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the brother of Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong
Sim Lam, the father of Ms Cheong Chong Ling and Mr Cheong Tiong Ham,
and the uncle of Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald. Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim,
Cheong Keng Hooi, Cheong Sim Lam and Cheong Chin Joo Gerald (together
with his other family members) own Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited,
the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.
Some of the Directors who are members of the Cheong family together own

businesses/companies outside the Group.

Under the corporate governance structure, the Board of Directors is as a
whole accountable to the shareholders of the Company in respect of the
Group’s performance. The Board of Directors is responsible for the leadership
and control of the Group, which include formulation of objectives, overall
strategies and business plans; and overseeing the financial and management
performance, corporate governance, environmental, social and governance

issues, risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Group. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 March 2025 on a going concern basis, the Directors have
adopted suitable accounting policies. Other than the changes in accounting
policies which are first effective for the year under review as disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements, the Directors have applied the accounting
policies consistently with those applied to the financial statements of the
previous financial year. The Directors have also made judgements and estimates

which are reasonable.

In addition, the Directors of the Company are accountable for keeping proper
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group. The statement of the Auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 89 to 95.

With the objective of focusing more attentively on specific areas, the Board
has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the audit committee. INEDs are invited to serve on
these Board committees given the benefits they can bring to the Company. To
assist the committees in discharging their roles adequately, each committee
is provided with a committee policy, setting out guidelines for its members
to follow in the process of decision-making. Duties and authorities of these
committees are also set out in their respective terms of reference. To keep the
Board fully informed of their works and findings, these committees are required

to report back to the Board.

For the purpose of efficient operation, the Board relies on the management
for the day-to-day operation of the Group’s business. The management has
to implement the objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and
report to the Board from time to time. The Board monitors the work of the
management whilst the management provides an indispensable support to
the operation of the Board and the Group’s development. Given the close
collaboration between the Board and the management, the duties, power and
functions of the Board and the management are clearly laid down and defined

in writing.

Delegating its functions and authorities to the Board committees and the
management does not absolve the Board from its overall responsibility for
the governance of the Group. The Board at all times assumes the ultimate

responsibility for the Group’s management and operation.
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Given the significance of making impartial decisions in the best interests of

its shareholders, the Company has adopted the following mechanism so as

to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. During

the year, the Board had reviewed the same and considered it as effectively

implemented.

. Ways to maintain an independent environment

(i

To ensure quality of “independence” by:

> setting out INEDs’ qualification and time contribution
required in the Company’s Nomination Policy and/or their

appointment letters

> complying with the number and service years of INEDs as

mandated under the Listing Rules

> assessing INEDs’ performance through Directors’

performance evaluation on an annual basis

To lay down procedure for Directors (including INEDs) to seek

independent professional advice

To convene INEDs’ meetings (without the presence of Executive

Directors) as and when necessary

o Available communication avenues

)

(i)

(i

)

To give a 14-day notice of regular board meetings to Directors

(including INEDs) for putting forward items for discussion

To report to the Board issues discussed at board committee
meetings (a majority of the board committee members being
INEDs) verbally at the board meeting immediately thereafter so as

to make sure INEDs’ voice is communicated in good time

To circulate minutes of all board committee meetings to all
Directors so that the whole Board is well aware of the committees’

concerns

To hold discussion (without the presence of the Executive
Directors) between the Chairman of the Board and INEDs annually

to prevent some views from being suppressed
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Directors’ attendance and training

To ensure timely and adequate attention to and due discussion on the Group’s
affairs, the Directors had high attendance at the board meetings (total: six),
board committee meetings and annual general meeting they were eligible to

attend during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

Given the need for the Directors to equip themselves with necessary
knowledge and skills to discharge their duties, the Company places an
emphasis on Directors’ training. During the year under review, all Directors
were furnished with memoranda/circulars at intervals so as to refresh their
knowledge relating to Directors’ duties as well as legal and regulatory
obligations. To keep the Directors abreast of the latest developments
regarding regulatory and legal requirements, the company secretary also
provided updates directly or through other professionals to the Board as
and when necessary. During the financial year ended 31 March 2025,
not only did the Company organise in-house training courses in relation
to Directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as strategic direction
for its Directors at the Company’s expense, it also provided them with
e-learning materials in relation to (i) new climate requirements; (i) share
repurchase and treasury shares; and (iii) ISSB sustainability disclosures
as composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For the
purpose of ensuring suitable training is received by the Directors, the
Board conducted a review thereon and is satisfied with the training
received by the Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2025.
Other than the foregoing, the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
external training sessions, seminars, forums and conferences on their own
with all related expenses reimbursable by the Company, subject to the

Company’s policy.
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Individual attendance of the Directors at annual general meeting, board REENAFEHFRRERAFAS EFSZH
meetings, board committee meetings and training during the year under review EEeE NTEeeR T Za8snT
is set out below:
Remuneration Nomination Audit Annual
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meetings® Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Training*
£ FMZEEEE REZEEeE BNZEEEE RRATAE &3l
Covering
corporate
governance- Covering
Directors related matters other matters
PREEER
Bz HBZER PREMEE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Cheong Kheng Lim
il 22 44 - 22 - i AC
Cheong Keng Hooi
EW; . 2/2 4/4 - - - 11 AC
Cheong Sim Lam
ﬁ;@g 112 44 - - - " AB,C
Cheong Chong Lin
- i%9 g Ling 2/2 4/4 - - - 1/ AC
Cheong Tiong Ham
ﬁETEF\}%g ¢ 212 4/4 - - - 1 AC
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald
iiﬁfw%/ﬁ‘g o 34 - - - " AC
Independent Non-executive
Directors
BUFHTEE
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
ﬂ;ﬁ' el e 2 4/4 33 2 44 1 B,C
A=/
Wong Yiu Tak
%Eﬁ v o 4/4 33 o 44 1 AC
Tse Pang Vi
ggiﬁeﬂ%%”g uen o 414 33 21 44 " AC
Total number of meetings
emy 2 4 3 2 4 1 =
" During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, six board meetings, of which four " NEBE_E-AFE=-A=1+—BHULHKEE A2
were regular ones, were held. HABM N AEEeeR(Hhmiarie:s) -

— Not applicable

The form in which the Directors received training includes:
A:  Attending courses/seminars/conferences
B:  Reading materials

C:  Receiving briefings from company secretary/other executives/professionals
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
code for dealing in securities in the Company by its Directors (“Model Code”).
Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors of the Company as to whether
they have complied with or whether there has been any non-compliance with
the Model Code, and all Directors have confirmed compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the financial year ended 31 March

2025.

Independent Non-executive Directors

INEDs are appointed for the period commencing from the conclusion of one
annual general meeting to the conclusion of the following annual general
meeting. According to the Company’s Articles of Association, they are required
to retire by rotation, but remain eligible for re-election, at least once every three

years.

Having assessed the written confirmation from each INED in particular
by reference to the independence requirements set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, the Company considers each of them continue to
be independent. One of the INEDs possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as

required under the Listing Rules.
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Board Committees EEEETWEES
The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration gEepkv=—HAEE8e HHAFTHEES 12

committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, each with its HEEENERZES  WAZEPHESENR
written terms of reference. Each committee is required to report back to the HEHE KRLEQARESSER  WHRESS
Board and keep the Board fully informed of its decisions and recommendations O ERERERED (N AELETHEEER
unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its ability to do so. The M) o TRERBENKESeE Ny EEemArk -

following diagram shows the current composition of each Board committee.

Board of Directors

=g
Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee Audit Committee
FMZEES REZES ENEES

Three INEDs: Two Executive Directors: Three INEDs:

ZEBUFPITES : MEBHTES : ZEBVFYITES :

e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul e Mr Cheong Kheng Lim e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
(committee chairman) (committee chairman) (committee chairman)
RAEBR*EEEE2LE) ERNEEEELLE) AEBEEEERLE

e Mr Wong Yiu Tak e Ms Cheong Chong Ling e Mr Wong Yiu Tak
ERESAE (appointed with effect from =R s A

* Mr Tse Pang Yuen 30 June 2025) * Mr Tse Pang Yuen
il paitaa BRX UM -FE_LF HWSTTEE

NA=THLEF)
Three INEDs:
ZEBUFUITES
e Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

AEELE
e Mr Wong Yiu Tak
* Mr Tse Pang Yuen

FBE TR &

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitZEGR A7
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Remuneration committee

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
Directors and senior management of suitable calibre by remunerating them
at a competitive level. In order to achieve this, the Board has established a
remuneration committee. Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no Director
or his/her associates are allowed to be involved in decisions relating to his/her

own remuneration.

Main duties

— to review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of

reference of the committee

— to assist the Company in formulating remuneration policy and

structure for Directors and senior management

— to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals

= to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration

packages of individual Executive Directors and senior management

— to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

INEDs

— to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the

Group

— to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or

appointment

— to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct

— to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

Details of the remuneration committee’s authority and duties are set out in its
terms of reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites

of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”).
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Remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior management is
determined, with delegated responsibility, by the remuneration committee
on the recommendations of the chief executive officer (except that the
remuneration package of the Executive Director who is also the chief executive
officer is determined by the remuneration committee alone) on an annual basis.
The remuneration committee also makes recommendations to the Board on
the review of INEDs’ remuneration annually. For all other staff, it is the Executive
Directors who fix their remuneration packages on the recommendations of their

respective department heads on an annual basis.

According to the Group’s remuneration policy, the amount of remuneration
payable to the Directors is determined by reference to a number of factors,
including remuneration paid by comparable companies, the Group’s results
as well as the work-load, responsibility and time commitment of the Directors.
When determining the remuneration packages of senior management and all
other staff, the remuneration committee and Executive Directors, as the case
may be, take(s) into consideration the factors including market conditions, the

Group’s results, individual performance, job nature and duties.

Other than the retirement scheme as set out in note 24 to the financial
statements on page 155, the Group does not have any long-term incentive

scheme.

Summary of works performed during the financial year ended

31 March 2025

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and the terms of reference of the

committee

= reviewed and fixed the remuneration packages of all Executive

Directors and senior management

— made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

INEDs

Number of meetings held by the committee during the year under review and
individual attendance of the remuneration committee members thereat are set

out in the table on page 12.
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Nomination committee
To ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company, the Board has set up a

nomination committee.

Main duties

— to review and provide recommendations to the Board on the
nomination policy, terms of reference of the committee and the Board

diversity policy

— to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the

Company’s corporate strategy

= to assess the independence of INEDs

— to assess the mix required on the Board

— to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships

— to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive, and
on the setting of measurable objectives for implementing the Board

diversity policy

Details of the nomination committee’s authority and duties are set out in its
terms of reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites

of the Company and the HKEx.
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For the purpose of providing a clear guidance to the committee members in
executing their jobs, a nomination policy which delineates the procedures and
criteria for nomination of Directors has been laid down. Under the policy, all
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. Any Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall retire at the next annual general meeting whilst
those appointed to fill casual vacancies shall retire at the next general meeting
(instead of the next annual general meeting) and Directors so appointed are
eligible for re-election. The appointment term of the Directors is determined by

the Board.

Before making recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of a Director, the nomination committee shall according to the
nomination policy consider the present and future needs of the Company
and the new challenges/risks it may encounter, and thereafter determine the
necessary attributes/competencies required for the Director. In considering the
suitability of an individual to become a Director or a Director to be re-appointed,
the nomination committee shall consider whether the person concerned
possesses the specific qualities required by the Company, his/her personal
profile and whether he/she meets the basic criteria as required under applicable
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, such as being able to demonstrate a
standard of competence and having the character, experience and integrity
commensurate with his/her position as a Director. For the appointment/re-
appointment of an INED, the nomination committee shall also take into account

the independence guidelines laid down in the Listing Rules.

Diversity

For ensuring there is a balanced composition of the Board, the nomination
committee needs to consider not only one’s attributes/competencies, but
also his/her value to the Company. Board diversity which incorporates
a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, skills,
knowledge and professional experience, is a key consideration in Board
selection process which the nomination committee shall give consideration
to. The Company believes that, with the benefits of diversity, it can have a
better understanding to the needs and expectations of its stakeholders, in
particular shoppers and tenants, whereby enhance its overall performance

and promote the long term interests of its shareholders.
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To reflect the above, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy, in
which the nomination committee is required to assess the mix required on as
well as the adequacy of the mix already on the Board; and to recommend
to the Board the measurable objectives for implementing the policy and

any matters in relation to Board diversity or the policy itself.

After taken into account a wide range of diversity aspects as well as the
needs of the Company and the environment in which it operates, having at
least one female Director has been set as the Company’s objective (which
has already been accomplished) in achieving gender diversity at Board
level. The Board believes that the Company’s success is determined by
various factors. It is not necessarily in a direct proportion to the number
of Directors of a particular gender. Selection of female candidates to join
the Board is, in part, dependent on the pool of candidates possessing
the qualities required by the Company. Board appointment is always
based on merit and contributions likely brought by the chosen candidates
without focusing on a single diversity aspect, or it may compromise on the
calibre of the Directors. To be in line with the Company’s development
and get well prepared for the possible future needs, the Board will
review the set target and timeline in due course and ensure a pipeline of
potential successors to the Board for gender diversity purpose through
the implementation of policies and practices which require attention to be
paid to the sufficient presence of female Directors, sourcing channels as
well as opportunities for potential women to take up managerial roles when

identifying suitable Board members.

Although the Company is paving the way to facilitate gender balance
across the workforce (including senior management), it does not intend
to fix any gender diversity quota or set a short-term objective thereon
given that the business nature as well as the geographical location of
the Company do not lead to any favouritism on engaging employees of
a particular gender. Gender diversity of the workforce is indeed not a
relevant issue to the Company. As provided in the Company’s employment
policy, staff recruitment is mainly based on the needs of the Company and
the principles laid down therein, such as equal opportunities and “selection
on capability”. Details of gender ratio of the workforce (including senior
management) are set out in the Corporate Social Responsibility Report

headed “Employee profile and engagement” on page 52.
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As regards the nomination procedures for Board members, relevant details
are set out in the nomination policy, which requires the Board (i) on receipt of
recommendations from the nomination committee to form an opinion as to
whether one shall be appointed/re-appointed and (i) to make disclosure as per

the Listing Rules after the same has been approved.

Summary of works performed during the financial year ended
31 March 2025

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the nomination

policy, the terms of reference of the committee and the Board diversity

policy
— considered and recommended the Board on the measurable objective
in achieving gender diversity at Board level and the necessary mix

required on the Board

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity policy

— put forward recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and

composition of the Board

— assessed the independence of the INEDs

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointments of the

INEDs and Directors who were subject to retirement by rotation

Number of meetings held by the committee during the year under review and
individual attendance of the nomination committee members thereat are set

out in the table on page 12.
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Audit committee

With a view to assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
in areas such as financial reporting, internal control and risk management
systems as well as relationship with the auditor, the Company has set up an

audit committee.

Main duties

— to make recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-

appointment and removal of the external auditor

— to approve remuneration and terms of engagement of the external

auditor, and handle all issues relating to its resignation or dismissal

— to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and

objectivity and the effectiveness of its audit process

— to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit and

reporting obligations before commencement of audit

= to develop and implement policy on engagement of the external

auditor to supply non-audit services

— to oversee financial reporting system, as well as risk management and

internal control systems

= to review financial information of the Group

— to review arrangements employees of the Company can use in
confidence to raise concerns about possible improprieties and
ensure proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent

investigation and for follow-up action

— to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s

relations with the external auditor

— to review and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of

reference of the committee

Details of the audit committee’s authority and duties are set out in its terms of
reference. The said terms of reference are published on the websites of the

Company and the HKEx.
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Summary of works performed during the financial year ended

31 March 2025

= made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the

external auditor

— considered and approved the terms of engagement of the external

auditor on provision of profits tax services

— fixed the external auditor’s remuneration

= reviewed the half-year and annual financial statements of the Group,
including integrity and significant financial reporting judgements

contained therein, before submission to the Board for approval

= discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and determined the scope and extent of the interim review before

commencement

— met the external auditor without the presence of executive board

members of the Company

— considered and made recommendations to the Board on the audit
policy, the terms of reference of the committee, the risk management
policy and the whistleblowing policy, including arrangements for

employees to raise concerns about improprieties

= reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems by monitoring the risk change during the
year and assessing the adequacy of the mitigating strategies used
as well as impact of the identified risks on the Group before making

recommendations to the Board

— evaluated and recommended the Board on the need of setting up
an internal audit function by considering the current internal control

mechanism and the pros and cons of doing so

Number of meetings held by the committee during the financial year ended 31
March 2025 and individual attendance of the audit committee members thereat

are set out in the table on page 12.
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Corporate governance functions

Given the importance of good corporate governance to the success of
the Company, the Board is directly responsible for performing corporate
governance duties. The duties set out in the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG

Code are included in its terms of reference.

Among the six board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2025, two of which covered issues relating to corporate governance. At the
meetings, the Board reviewed the general code of conduct for employees and
Directors; monitored the training and continuous professional development
received by Directors and senior management; and reviewed corporate
governance policies and practices including those relating to compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. Individual
attendance of the Directors at the said two board meetings is set out in the

table on page 12.

Risk Management and Internal Control
Responsibility
The Board has an overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

To this end, the Board, assisted by the audit committee, oversees the
foregoing systems on an ongoing basis by evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including the environmental, social and
governance-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

Although the said systems are complemented by relevant procedure and
measures for the purpose of safeguarding the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, they are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Key features and process

As risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group
and something more than a formality, it is integrated into the day-to-day
operation and carried out at all levels under the stewardship of the Board. In
order to create a control environment across the Group to support the risk
management and internal control systems, the Company is committed to
building up a corporate culture based on business ethics, control responsibility
and risk awareness. To accomplish this, the Company has adopted a general
code of conduct and an anti-corruption policy to govern the integrity and
ethical behaviour of employees in business practices. A whistleblowing policy
to provide channels and guidance for employees and those who deal with the
Group to report on any suspected irregularities, improprieties, misconduct or
malpractices within the Group is also in place. In addition, procedure manuals
delineating reporting lines and areas of responsibility of each department/
operating unit are laid down and are under review from time to time. All policies
and guidelines with defined limits of delegated authority are put in writing so as

to enhance effective segregation of duties and controls.

On top of fostering a risk management culture, the Board adopts a bottom-
up approach to identify the Group’s operational risks. Instead of setting
up a separate department charged with the risk-related issues, it gets
all departments/operating units involved. Under the current systems, all
department/unit heads are required to establish risk factors specific to their
responsible areas, determine impact as well as likelihood of identified risks
in accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board and develop mitigating
strategies. They shall maintain a risk register containing the said information
and update it on a regular basis. In order to provide the Board and the audit
committee with an overview of the Group’s operational risks and how they are
managed, the management scrutinises, filters, amends and compiles relevant
information, together with findings of the strategic risk identification performed
by the Executive Directors on behalf of the Board, as a composite risk report
to the Board/the audit committee for review and endorsement every 6 months
unless the circumstances are exceptional which require immediate attention/
discussion. The external auditor also has access to the risk registers and
composite risk reports. During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, such

risk assessment exercise was done on a half-yearly basis.
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In the absence of an internal audit function (reasons for its absence are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” on pages 5 to 7),
the Board has appointed a qualified accountant, who is also the accounting
manager of the Group, to carry out sample testing on procedure compliance
and risk-related issues in respect of all departments/operating units. Test
results and findings are reported to the audit committee on an annual basis.
Heads of the departments/operating units which may have a significant
financial implication on the Group’s revenue are required to make an annual
representation to the audit committee confirming that all potential risks in
relation to their scope of work are properly dealt with. The management will
then review the situation and provide the Board/the audit committee with an
annual confirmation on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems.

Being part of the internal control process, the Group has maintained a
comprehensive accounting system for ensuring complete and accurate financial
information. Annual budgets as regards rental income and operating expenses
of ISQUARE, the Group’s main source of revenue, are prepared for effective
allocation and utilisation of resources. As regards outgoings, the Group has
established procedure for approval and control of operating expenditures whilst
the capital ones are subject to management approval prior to commitment.
Other control measures, including provision of monthly management accounts
to Directors and preparation of variance analyses, help identify deficiencies and

enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Handling of inside information

Concerning inside information, the Company has implemented various policies
to govern how it shall be handled. Policy on disclosure of inside information
sets out the manner in which inside information is escalated and disseminated
whereas the risk management policy provides ways to deal with risks which
may constitute inside information. Besides, the general code of conduct
adopted by the Group prohibits inappropriate use of confidential or inside
information. All employees are required to undertake their adherence to the

said code and report any non-compliance with it to the management.

For the purpose of complying with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
its own code. Relevant procedure for guarding against mishandling of inside
information includes pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities by
designated Directors and notification of black-out period to Directors. In order
to remind Directors and employees of their obligations in securities transaction,

they are provided with memoranda at intervals.
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Review of effectiveness

Although the management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal control systems,
the Board and the audit committee oversee the process. In March 2025, the
Board, with the confirmation from the management certifying that the aforesaid
systems were functioning effectively and the assistance of the audit committee,
conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems under Code Provision D.2.1 of the CG Code for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025. Such review is conducted annually and
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Based on the review result, the Board considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting, were adequate and that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and apposite to the Group though no
in-house or outsourced internal audit function as required by the CG Code has
been set up. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of concern which

should be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As with any business, the Group faces risks and uncertainties on a daily basis.
In determining the principal risks posed to the Group, the Board takes into
account the overall severity level (based on the impact and likelihood matrix)
of the risks set out in the composite risk reports and their changes during
the financial year. It also examines their nature and impact on the Group and
evaluates the effectiveness and suitability of the mitigating strategies as applied
by taking into consideration the actual operation and performance of the

Group.

From the Group’s overall perspective, the following are identified as principal
risks currently encountered by the Group. That said, they are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive. There may be other risks which may not be
material now but could turn out to be such in the future. Although the principal
risks may not change significantly from year to year, their magnitude and

importance to the Group can and do vary.
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Risk pertaining to Leasing

Following the increased convenience of cross-border travel alongside Central
Government’s measures and an array of initiatives put forward by HKSAR
Government to boost Hong Kong tourism, the overall social atmosphere
in Hong Kong in the reporting year had improved. Notwithstanding the
rise in number of inbound visitors as well as the increase in total tourism
expenditure, there was a drop in overall per capita visitor spending, mainly
attributed to the change in spending behaviour and expectation of tourists.
The habitual pattern of Hong Kong residents tripping north and spending
abroad amid the relatively strong Hong Kong dollar environment further
weakened Hong Kong retail sales. Coupled with the challenges posed by
the emergence of newly developed districts such as Kai Tak where new
shopping malls and event venues are concentrated and the precariousness
of interest rate path in particular due to new US tariff policies, difficulties
facing iISQUARE tenants in the year in question persisted and the risk of

tenants’ default remained.

In the absence of any significant improvement in rental market of Hong
Kong retail sector or noticeable drop in supply of retail premises in Tsim Sha
Tsui, the overall downward pressure on rental level and occupancy rate of

iISQUARE remained broadly the same in the year under review.

Key controls and mitigations:

o To explore new shopping elements and focus marketing efforts on

drawing more people to and encouraging consumption at iISQUARE

° To conduct direct engagement with tenants and closely monitor their

financial performance and payment record

o To adopt a more proactive approach in seeking potential tenants and

managing tenancy expiries and vacancies
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Risk pertaining to Economic Outlook

Although the Group’s operations are mainly based in Hong Kong, any
unfavourable change in the world and local economic climate could impact
on its overall business. Uncertainties stemming from geopolitical tensions and
trade conflicts in the reporting year had already upset the global trade and
undermined economic confidence as well as investment sentiments, which
in turn negatively affected the performance of the Group. Despite the upturn
in local equity market in the first quarter of the year 2025 and the relatively
steadiness of the real estate market, the pace of economic recovery in Hong
Kong was pulled back by the slower-than-expected interest rate cuts. In the
light of the foregoing and given time required for different business sectors
to benefit from the spectrum of activities in promoting financial/investment
development in Hong Kong as launched by HKSAR government, there was
no apparent change that rendered an adjustment to the risk level pertaining

to economic outlook in the reporting year.

Key controls and mitigations:

o To closely monitor the operating environment so as to enable prompt

adjustment to corporate strategies and business activities

o To engage a prudent and sound financial management with a view to

ensuring business resilience and coping with unexpected changes

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitZEGR A7

SEERASAEREA AR

HAREBNEBLLTEUNETEREM - ([
EHIRBAMAHEBERA® R TR E
HEBXBARR - Eé#&%iﬁ% C HEBUR B R
Fﬁ%lﬁ(ﬂ’\]Kﬁ&i'l&%ﬂ%ﬂ%@i?&?\@%ﬁ%ﬂ?ﬁ

 FEBHSRBEE L RRERE  ARERX
fiﬁlﬁtﬁéﬂ%ﬁ%% BEAMESTIHN
T HFEFEANMTR - BHMERTEYHT
= BERBEERNTEAZ GRS ETRLN
FE - ENIAER URSTEFRIREXE
REBFERAREEETESRH REBRME
H—ZRIEBAHRNGR - BEERA  &F
RIS ¥ 6 2 A0 SR AR BR O T 75 H AR R L
IR TEE -

F B REARER

.
it’ﬁ

ETEREERR  URRAEEEME
1 RAE R XIS E B EH BN S B

o  AREEE - ARRMOMBER - UER
EBBEMREHBINECAEE



Corporate Governance Report $t¥2&E8E

Risk pertaining to Investment Properties

Pursuant to HKFRS Accounting Standards, the Group’s investment
properties (“IPs”) are stated at fair values in the consolidated statement of
financial position whilst changes thereof are recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

Given the relatively heavy weighting of the IPs in the Group’s property
portfolio, any material change in the valuation of the IPs can seriously affect
the Group’s profit/loss for the year. Although one of the key drivers of the
said valuation is rental income and the downward pressure on rental level
and occupancy rate of iISQUARE remained in the year under review (as
explained hereinbefore), no apparent change to risk exposure is expected
as valuation is indeed determined by myriad factors. Notwithstanding the
valuation change, fair value gains/losses will not affect the Group’s cash

flow.

Due to the current financial reporting requirements, valuation changes have

influenced and will continue to influence the Group’s profit/loss.

Key controls and mitigations:

Ensuring stable revenue streams is a practicable way to mitigate the adverse
impact caused by valuation change in particular in times of economic

uncertainty. Measures taken by the Group include the following:

o To build up a more diversified tenant mix with the aim of maintaining a

sustainable tenant portfolio

o To launch creative and popular promotions so as to increase
exposure, thereby stimulate consumer spending and add value to the
IPs

° To stay alert to market changes and tenant needs for retaining

competitiveness and countering peer competition

. To preserve quality of the IPs by carrying out maintenance and

enhancement works

In addition to monitoring the impact of the principal risks that the Group is
now facing by adjusting its corporate strategies and mitigating measures, the
management will keep observing if there is any emerging risk which may affect

the Group significantly on a regular basis.
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Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of remuneration paid by the Company to its auditor, KPMG, in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group during the

financial year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

ZEET BN =

ARABREZHED — ESHSHMEFANEE
ZE-RF=RA=T—HILBEERRERRM
2B EIFCERBM M

HK$’000

BT T

Audit services % RIS 1,384
Non-audit services FERZ RS

. Tax services ° iSRS 101

o Interim review ° A ERZE R 391

492

1,876

Shareholders’ Relations

To enhance accountability and promote transparency as well as shareholders’
engagement, the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
which provides the framework for even and timely dissemination of information
to and maintaining an ongoing dialogue with its shareholders. Steps to be
taken for handling inquiries and requests put forward by shareholders are set
out in a separate document. According to the said policy and the Company’s
other policies as well as practices, channels of shareholder communication and

engagement are summarised as below:

Providing information

o Corporate communications

The Company’s operating results are reported biannually and produced
in the form of annual report and interim report in accordance with the

Listing Rules and all applicable laws and regulations.

The annual report includes consolidated financial statements, in-depth
analysis of the Company’s business as well as discussions on/account
of corporate governance practices and sustainability topics. It also
covers other topics which may of interest/use to shareholders, such
as the Company’s dividend policy as well as ways for shareholders
to convene general meetings and put forward proposals thereat (as

detailed hereinafter).
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Updates on ad hoc issues are usually provided through publication of
announcements. Other communications with shareholders by way of
corporate communication also include but not limited to notices and

circulars.

All corporate communications are prepared in both English and

Chinese versions and in plain language to facilitate understanding.

Corporate website

Information released by the Company to the HKEx is posted on the

Company’s website (http://ttll.etnet.com.hk) as soon as practicable

thereafter. Such information includes financial reports, results
announcements, circulars, notices of general meetings and associated

explanatory documents.

A dedicated section concerning corporate governance is also
included in the Company’s website, in which Articles of Association
of the Company which spell out shareholders’ rights can be found.
(During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, there were no
changes made to the Articles of Association of the Company.) Other
documents available in this section are as follows:

> Terms of Reference of Audit Committee

> Terms of Reference of Remuneration Committee

> Terms of Reference of Nomination Committee

> Whistleblowing Policy
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Encouraging participation/interaction

Shareholders’ meetings

The Company holds annual general meeting every year so as to provide
an opportunity for direct interaction between its shareholders and the
Board. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend, speak and vote at meetings for and on

their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the Chairman of the Board and chairmen
of the Board committees, or their delegates, appropriate management
staff and the Company’s external auditor normally attend annual general

meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.

The format and process of annual general meetings to be taken are
reviewed and changes will be made, if necessary, so as to enhance

shareholders’ involvement.

Notices of general meetings together with accompanying papers (if any)
are sent to shareholders according to their selected means of receipt
and published on the HKEx and the Company’s websites in accordance
with statutory requirements to ensure shareholders’ rights to attend,

speak and vote are not prejudiced.

Shareholders’ inquiries/views

Shareholders are provided with means by which their enquiries/views

can be put forward to the Board. Such channels, including designated

email address (ttllcosec@tianteckgroup.com), correspondence

address, fax number and telephone number, are made available on the
Company’s website. Contact details of the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited who deals with

shareholders’ own shareholdings are also provided.

With the aim to solicit and understand more about shareholders’ views
on its performance as well as concerns over any other matters affecting
it, the Company will keep exploring and taking new measures, such as

launching online questionnaire, as and when appropriate.
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. Whistleblowing

The Company has put in place a whistleblowing mechanism whereby
shareholders can report suspected irregularities, improprieties,
misconduct or malpractices within the Group. Reportable issues,
reporting channel and investigation procedures are clearly set out.
To ensure shareholders’ accessibility to the said mechanism, the

whistleblowing policy is posted on the Company’s website.

Given the significance of communication with shareholders, the Board
is directly responsible for the annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication policy. Based on the INEDs’
preliminary assessment result on the adequacy of the said policy and taking
into account the measures put in place as mentioned above, together with the
feedback from the shareholders, the Board following the review undertaken in
the reporting year considered that its shareholders’ communication policy was

effectively implemented.

Subject to applicable legislation and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of
the Company as amended from time to time, shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”, and each a “Shareholder”) may convene general meetings and
put forward proposals at general meetings. The relevant procedure is set out

below:

To convene an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

. The Company holds a general meeting as its AGM every year. An AGM is

usually held in September.

o If the Company fails to hold an AGM (which is unlikely to occur) after 6
months have elapsed since the end of the Company’s financial year,
any Shareholder may apply to the court in Hong Kong which, on such

application, may call or direct the calling of an AGM of the Company.
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To move a resolution at an AGM

. Shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a resolution for an AGM if

they represent at least:

(@) 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who have
a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request

relates; or

(b) 50 Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at the

AGM to which the request relates.

o The request must:

(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Chairman of the Board at 9th
Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong

Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the proposed resolution;

() be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the
AGM to which the request relates or if later, the time at which

notice of the AGM is despatched.

o The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will request the Board to include the resolution in the agenda
for the AGM. On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included in the agenda

for the AGM.
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To convene a General Meeting (“GM”)

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having a right to vote at GMs can request the Directors to
calla GM.

The request:

(@) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at

the meeting;

(b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved

and is intended to be moved at the meeting;

() may consist of several documents in like form;

(dl) must be sent in hard copy form to the Chairman of the Board at
9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company; and

(e) must be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will request the Board to convene a GM by serving sufficient
notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order,
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and

accordingly, a GM will not be convened as requested.

Directors must call a GM within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice

convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not convene a GM as required, the Shareholder(s)
concerned or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them may themselves call a GM, and the meeting
so convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after the
date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a
GM. The Company must reimburse any reasonable expenses incurred
by the Shareholder(s) requesting the GM by reason of the failure of the
Directors duly to call a GM.
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To propose a person other than a Director of the Company for election

RERAS (BEBRREFAR)RAFEARAE

as a Director at a GM, including an AGM

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company at the
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office by
electing a person thereto. If a Shareholder (other than the person to be
nominated as mentioned hereinafter), who is duly qualified to attend and
vote at the GM for which the notice of intention as hereinafter described
is to be given, wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
of the Company for election as a Director of the Company at any GM,
he/she should sign and deposit a notice of intention to that effect at
9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, the registered office of the Company, for the attention of the
Board together with a notice signed by the nominated person of his/
her willingness to be elected. The minimum length of period during
which such notices are given shall be at least 7 days and the period for
lodgement shall commence no earlier than the day after despatch of the
notice of the meeting appointed for such election (inclusive of such day)
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such GM (“Lodgement

Period”).

To enable the Company to inform Shareholders of the foregoing
proposal, the written notices as mentioned above shall be accompanied
by (i) the information of the nominated person as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and (i) the written
consent of the nominated person to the publication of his/her personal

data.

Relevant procedure and the Lodgement Period for each such GM
will be set out in the corresponding circular to be despatched to the

Shareholders.

If the notice is received less than 15 clear days prior to the GM, the
Company will consider adjourning the GM in order to allow Shareholders
at least 14 clear days or 10 clear business days’ notice of the proposal,

whichever is the longer.
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Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM

Eligible Shareholders can express their views on a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt with at a GM
in a written statement of not more than 1,000 words and request the
Company to circulate it to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of a

GM. Eligible Shareholders must represent at least:

(@  2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the

relevant right to vote; or

(b) 50 Shareholders having the relevant right to vote.

For a statement concerning a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to vote on that
resolution at the meeting to which the request relates. For a statement
concerning other business, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to

vote at the meeting to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Chairman of the Board at 9th

Floor, ISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong

Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the statement to be circulated;

() be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company at least 7 days before the meeting

to which it relates.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the Company will
circulate the statement to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the

meeting provided that:
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(@) if the request relates to an AGM,

(i) the statement is received in time to enable the Company
to send a copy of the statement at the same time as the

notice of AGM is despatched; or

(ii) otherwise, the Shareholder(s) concerned has/have, not later
than 7 days before the AGM, deposited a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in circulating

the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s) concerned.

(b) if the request relates to a GM other than an AGM, the
Shareholder(s) concerned has/have, not later than 7 days before
the GM, deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in circulating the statement submitted by

the Shareholder(s) concerned.

On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order or as not having
received in time for the Company to send a copy of the statement
together with the notice of AGM or the Shareholder(s) concemed has/
have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the circulation purpose within the time frame (as the case may be),
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the statement will not be circulated to Shareholders entitled

to receive notice of the meeting.

Dividend policy
To enable the Board to make consistent dividend decisions, the Company

has adopted a dividend policy which sets out considerations the Board
shall take into account when proposing dividends. These factors include,
inter alia, financial performance, working capital requirements and future
development plans of the Company and general economic environment.
Subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association
of the Company, the Board may declare dividends as and when it considers
appropriate. To give flexibility to the Board in making payout decisions after
having regard to the circumstances then pertaining, the dividend policy does
not specify any payout ratio, the form dividends shall take or frequency they
shall be declared. This policy is subject to review by the Board from time to

time.

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitZEGR A7

(@ WMZERFEBEREAFAE

() BRABVARKEERRE <
ARBAEZELBRRAFASE
EZEERIA—GFEOX - 3K

(i) AR HERRRANERBIRAE
FARGRTRBE—E2REEHN
BVFIE - A AR B E SR AE
9 A SRR 22 B Rt 35 T 2 A )
%o

b)  IRZEIF RBIREFRE ASMIRER
R HERRATERBRRASGA
TREF—EEEBHHRIE - A
AR E E R R SRE R R E
EERRX

R WEZERERERTEZE AR
AR BE N B o B PR B AR 3 H RCR B4 K
SRS CHBEBIA—GEX - SARRER
REER 12 E HAIR A BITF R S FUR A S AR
AREERAZRRAS (RTIEN) - HEEK
REEBHNERER  RAETRL BT
A A REZWBCR A & B S I BRE % -

B B HER

ARBEFIERSEER  BEEFSEMRBEFL
—BHRE - ZRBRBRIAEETE RN EZHEIKER
BRMEERNEE  ERERETRRRARR]
MPBRR - 2EESTRIARKERTE - AR
ERBERE - REBIRABEBER LR - 50 -
BRARARBABERZAAORRIN  EEGAHE
HERRAENBERATEIRKE - RETEFSRE
BB HIRBORENEE M - AR T ZBRB B
BAREEMRBLE - PSR ETIRRE - HE
EEGATRBE IR -



Corporate Social Responsibility Report

TERLEEEEHRE

Governance Structure

Being a responsible enterprise, the Company is not only concerned with
its financial growth but also its non-financial performance. The Company
recognises that the manner in which it conducts business will impact on the
environment and society. As such, the management strives to make a positive
contribution to the sustainability development of the environment and society
by integrating the socially responsible practices in its daily operation. Under the
sustainability governance structure, the Board assumes an overall responsibility
for the Company’s sustainability matters and oversees all related strategy
management, performance and reporting whilst the Executive Directors are
accountable for driving environmental and social responsibilities initiatives and
reviewing their practices for performance improvement. With the assistance
of the management and through the risk assessment exercise, the Board also
determines relevance of the sustainability issues and reviews the Company’s
performance on emissions, waste disposal, energy use and water efficiency
on a regular basis so as to ensure progress made against the corresponding

targets is properly managed.

Reporting Scope

This Corporate Social Responsibility Report provides a review on the Group’s
performance of its environmental and social responsibilities for the financial year
ended 31 March 2025. As iISQUARE is the Group’s main business operation,

its performance is included herein unless otherwise specified.

Approach and Strategy

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (‘ESG Guide”) as previously set out in Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules. Its content is determined through a process which
involves identification of stakeholders and relevant issues in relation to
environmental and social responsibilities and prioritisation of the issues to
be reported after taking into account the stakeholders’ expectations and the
Group’s unique business nature. In this report, only the environmental and
social responsibilities initiatives and performance that are material and/or
relevant to the Group and its stakeholders are outlined. During the financial
year ended 31 March 2025, the Company complied with all the mandatory
disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” provisions, where applicable,

set out in the ESG Guide.
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Stakeholders’ Engagement and Materiality
Assessment

To truly understand the views and expectations of the stakeholders on
sustainable development, the Company keeps ongoing communication with
its key stakeholders. During the year under review, the Company engaged its
shareholders, employees, business partners and tenants through face-to-face
discussions and/or questionnaires. Reporting issues are identified according
to the impact of the issues on the Group’s business and stakeholders as

evaluated by the management and the stakeholders respectively.

Environmental Issues

Policy

Since the management acknowledges that the Group shall take into account
the impact of its business operation on the environment while achieving
financial growth, the Group has adopted an environmental policy with a focus

on the following:

1. ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements
2. setting up long-term carbon emission reduction targets
3. enhancing behavioural change among staff through internal

communication and awareness activities

4. where practicable,

o incorporating environmental considerations into contracting

decisions and tenant selection

o adopting eco-friendly practices in daily operation
° disposing of waste in an environmentally responsible way
o reducing waste, and reusing and recycling materials
5. communicating the Group’s policy to the management company of

iISQUARE and encouraging it to integrate the environmental concerns

into its operation process
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Initiatives
In order to support environmental conservation and enhance staff awareness of

green living, the Group during the reporting year took part in the activities listed

below:
o recycling of contact lens packaging and mooncake boxes
o lai see packets reuse programme organised by Greeners Action by

sponsoring it for the event and providing iISQUARE as one of the

collection points

o “Earth Hour 2025” organised by World Wide Fund for Nature (“WWF”)

Simultaneously, the Group continues to operate office facilities in an

environmentally responsible manner, for instance:

o using water-saving sanitary fittings, such as dual flushing cisterns and

photo-sensor water taps

o purchasing white paper with FSC certification

o disposing of used paper which is good for recycling through a paper

recycling company

. employing multi-zone lighting controls
. returning used toners/cartridges to suppliers for recycling
o using environmentally friendly paper for printing annual/interim reports

and related circulars

. switching off air-conditioning, lights and computers when they are not in

use

41

)i
ARHBEREFHIRRREABTIORCLEE

N

AEBNARESFEMSENTEMT

B ETERESER AS2
BB R & B ES R E T — AR

A2 HEREBTHRMOMNETHEMRS

2 At REAEST IR 2 ER— /B
2025

BRI AEEEERAEHRFEAATNT R
TR AERRE - fI

FREVKEERSE  MER A KL REIF S
B EKBETE

HEEFSCRENALK

R R A R RIZE A MU 2 B AR

R [ AR AR I 24

REEEBNENE 22 THERERK
Z

EABRRMRENBF IR, B R R ABRD A
5

B IEE AT =T - ERENER

Annual Report 2024-2025 &3



Corporate Social Responsibility Report %141 &5FHfs

For the purpose of matching up the Group’s concern over environmental
protection, iISQUARE, being the Group’s main business operation, also takes
proactive steps towards this end. During the year under review, iISQUARE

participated in:

o “Pilot Programme on Smart Recycling Systems” launched by the

Environmental Protection Department (‘EPD”)

. “Rechargeable Battery Recycling Programme” introduced by the EPD

o “Earth Hour 2025” organised by WWF

In addition to the aforesaid, ISQUARE keeps employing those green measures

it has been using, such as:

o use of ultra low sulphur diesel for generator

. diversion of used water from cooling towers for flushing

o installation of flow controllers to water taps whenever practicable

. reviewing and, where possible, shortening daily operating hours of

escalators, lifts, lights and air-conditioning at areas accessible by

shoppers

o encouraging tenants to follow guidelines in relation to environmentally
friendly practices and providing them with tips thereon through iISQUARE
publications

o recycling waste paper, plastics and metals via the participation of the
“Programme on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial Waste”
as organised by the EPD

. recycling beverage cartons through the participation of a recycling

scheme hosted by Greeners Action

. recycling glass bottles via a government-appointed glass management
contractor
. recycling fluorescent tubes through a community recycling network

operated by the EPD

o equipping the building with energy saving features and materials, such
as use of glass curtain walls to minimise lighting sources and window
films with anti-UV coating to reduce solar radiation and heat, where

appropriate
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Performance

Since the Group is principally engaged in property investment and investment
holding, and iISQUARE is predominantly service-oriented, the total amount
of direct GHG emissions generated by them is relatively small. The largest

contributor to the carbon footprint of the Group (including ISQUARE) in the year

R

under review was the indirect GHG emissions from electricity consumption. BB -

1. GHG emissions' (CO, equivalent)

1. RERBEEHR (=

BHHERE D -
REREHREAEE(R

RRARE T ENEMRE RIREER - MBI
B35 R Z ARG R - ﬁﬁﬁéié’ﬂﬁ&&lﬁﬁf
RAFE  BAREmELESEE

BRI ES ) IR e

SiEE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ASBLEE

Indicators BE 2025 2024
Direct sources (Scope 1)’ EERE (#E1)
e Diesel (tonnes) o Loh2(AMR) 0.55 0.55
Indirect sources (Scope 2)' BRI (E6/E2)"
e Electricity? (tonnes) o FS3(AME) 4,138.78 4,525.85
Other indirect sources (Scope 3)' B bR (5 E3)"
e Electricity used for processing fresh water* o RERKMERNEN(AME)

(tonnes) 18.37 18.19
e Electricity used for processing sewage® o FIBFKMEAREN(ARE)

(tonnes) 9.25 8.75
e Paper waste disposed at landfills® (tonnes) o TENMHAEAEHR(AR) 1.57 1.1
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) BEREAEE NS (HBE - 2K&3)

(tonnes) (AME) 4,168.52 4,554.45

GHG emissions avoided BREEEREBIHENR
e Recycling of paper’ (tonnes) o RIREIMT(AME) (143.28) (147.31)
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2. Energy consumption

2. BERBERE

Year ended 31 March
BZESASIHILEE

Indicators BE 2025 2024
Direct energy consumption EEEREHFE
e Diesel® (MWh) o LSHSUKE/NEF) 2.33 2.32
Indirect energy consumption EEEREIF I FE
e Electricity® (MWh) o BHCKE/NE) 10,891.52 11,604.75
Total energy consumption (MWh) BERERERE KR )E) 10,893.85 11,607.07
Total energy consumption per m? of FEFKEEEEZEREFEEE

floor area (MWh/m?) ClS N E T 0.21 0.22

3. Paper consumption'® 3. HERBRE

Year ended 31 March
HZE3ASIHLEE

Indicators 5 2025 2024
e Office paper (kg) o WMANERAK(AT) 518.75 445.20
e Paper for printing corporate communications (kg) o EN&ABERNBAAK(AT) 400.59 1,412.65
Total paper consumption (kg) wRER=E(AT) 919.34 1,857.85
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4. Water consumption' 4.  FKkE"
Year ended 31 March
HEZ3A31HILEE
Indicators BE 2025 2024
Total water consumption (m?) wAKE(IHAK) 42,063.00 41,654.00
Total water consumption per m? of FEHKETMEE T A/KiEs
floor area (m%/m?) (27K FHK) 0.79 0.79

As the Group’s office is situated at ISQUARE where water is provided by
the Water Supplies Department (“WSD”), the Group (including iISQUARE)

does not encounter any problem in sourcing water for daily operation.

5. Waste management

ARAEBREEREUNBERES  MERE
52 KR BKIEE - MAEE (BIERER
EH)EHTEEELTES FKRERANTM
fEiRd o

5. REWER

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HLFE

Indicators BE 2025 2024
Non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills'? EERIEEENEZEEY?
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills BEENHERENEZSEEZVEE

(tonnes) (AmWg) 1,515.45 1,495.95
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills 1%%@@@%2?%73@%%@%

per m? of floor area (tonnes/m?) mEREEYES (AW R X 0.03 0.03
Waste collected for recycling BERIEY
o Paper' (kg) o IRB(AT) 29,850.00 30,690.00
e Plastics™ (kg) o FRRU(AM) 213.00 210.00
e Metals' (kg) o DES(AT) 165.00 160.00
e Toners/cartridges'® (pieces) o fiXiERE(1) 14 6
o Glass' (kg) o RIE(AT) 5,220.50 3,011.00

Due to the business nature, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not
generate a quantifiable amount of hazardous waste and disclosure of

total packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

BERE

GHG emissions, including classification and calculation basis, are based on
the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in
Hong Kong” as prepared by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
(“EMSD”) and the EPD (“Hong Kong GHG Guidelines”). All numbers in this table,
where applicable, are rounded to two decimal places.

Boundary for the scopes

Scope 1 is the direct GHG emissions from the emergency generator owned and
controlled by ISQUARE. It excludes any offsets, if available.

Scope 2 is the indirect GHG emissions that are resulted from the generation
of electricity which the Group (including ISQUARE but excluding tenants which
purchased power through their own metered supply) purchased from power

company for own consumption.

Scope 3 is other indirect GHG emissions that (i) come from paper waste
disposed by the Group (excluding ISQUARE) at landfills; and (i) are relevant to
the activities of the Group and/or ISQUARE and are generated due to electricity
used for processing fresh water and sewage, excluding that operated from
tenants’ own metered supply, by government departments.

The breakdown of Scope 1 GHG emissions in respect of both the financial year
ended 31 March 2025 and the financial year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:
carbon dioxide (0.55 tonnes of CO, equivalent), methane (0.0001 tonnes of CO,
equivalent) and nitrous oxide (0.0005 tonnes of CO, equivalent).

Emissions are calculated as per the amount of diesel consumed by the
emergency generator of iISQUARE, and the emission factors and the Global
Warming Potentials set out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions are calculated according to the amount of electricity purchased by
the Group (including ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills
issued in the financial year and the latest emission factor provided by the relevant
electricity provider.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the Group
(including ISQUARE) as shown in water bills issued in the financial year, the latest
available unit electricity consumption of fresh water as published by the WSD and
the territory-wide default value of purchased electricity.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the Group
(including ISQUARE) as shown in water bills issued in the financial year and the
default emission factor (which is determined according to the purpose of water
used and the latest available emission factor of GHG emissions due to electricity
used for processing sewage as published by the Drainage Services Department).

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of office paper consumed by the
Group (excluding paper generated by the management company engaged to run
ISQUARE (“MgtCo”) for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE) net of office paper
collected for recycling and the relevant emission factor set out in the Hong Kong
GHG Guidelines.
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Note 7:

Note 8:

Note 9:

Note 10:

Note 11:

Note 12:

Note 13:

Note 14:

Note 15:

Note 16:

Note 17:

BERE

Emissions avoided are calculated according to the amount of paper collected
for recycling (including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by
external parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE) and the
relevant emission factor provided in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of diesel consumed by
the emergency generator at iISQUARE and the relevant conversion factor set out
in the “List of common conversion factors (Engineering conversion factors)” as
published by IOR Energy Pty Ltd.

Energy consumption is the amount of electricity purchased by the Group (including
ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills issued in the financial

year.

Referring to paper generated by the Group only (excluding paper generated by
the MgtCo for any purpose in relation to ISQUARE).

Being the amount of water used by the Group (including ISQUARE) as shown in
water bills issued in the financial year.

Being the estimated amount of general waste disposed through iISQUARE,
including those generated by the Group. Such amount is derived based on the
aggregate of the average daily amount of general waste for (i) weekdays and (i)
weekends/public holidays as collected and weighed by the cleaning contractor

of ISQUARE at different time slots multiplied by the number of relevant days in
the financial year.

Including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external parties
to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE.

Being plastics disposed through iISQUARE.

Being metals disposed through iISQUARE.

Being toners/cartridges used by the Group.

Being glass bottles disposed through iISQUARE.

Climate

Climate change has become one of the major global issues in recent years. As

a responsible entity, the Group remains vigilant and is committed to responding

to the climate-related risks through its operation. In determining the relevance

and extent of the climate-related exposure facing the Group, the Company

holds Board-level discussions with particular regard paid to their financial and

operational implications on the Group and conducts group-wide risk assessment

exercise pursuant to the guidelines delineated in the Company’s risk

management policy. Position and principles adopted by the Group in managing

impact arising from climate change are set out in the Company’s environmental

policy (summary of which is mentioned hereinbefore).
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Although no significant climate-related issues having a profound effect on
the Group are identified given its focused geographical spread and business
nature, influence of climate change on the Group is unavoidable. Main
exposure includes interruption of business operation and staff safety issues
caused by tropical cyclones; higher insurance premium resulted from damage
to property brought by extreme weather; and increased electricity consumption
as a result of higher temperature attributed to global warming. To tackle climate
challenges the Group is encountering, mitigating measures (including those
adopted by iSQUARE) which have been taken are setting up of an emergency
response team; provision of work guidance under extreme weather; purchase
of insurance; adoption of electricity conservation measures; and where
practicable, use of heat resistant materials on glass panels and installation of

additional safety fixtures on cladding panels, to name but a few.

Save as disclosed above, the operating activities of the Group (including
iISQUARE) have no significant impact on the environment, natural resources or

climate-related aspects.

Targets and progress management

Targets

Since the Group’s principal business operation — ISQUARE is a shopping
mall located in Hong Kong, its environmental performance is subject to some
factors which are beyond its control, such as number of shoppers and overall
temperature in Hong Kong. After taking into account of the aforesaid and
based on the principle of practicability, the Board has set the Company’s
reduction targets for emissions, waste disposal, energy use and water
consumption as being not higher than those generated/consumed in their
respective baseline years'®. For effective progress management, the Board,
with the assistance of the management, keeps monitoring the environmental

performance by benchmarking it against the targets set.

Going forward, iISQUARE will provide space for installation of a reverse vending
machine for plastic beverage bottles whereby help promote the green mindset
of the public. It will also continue its ongoing energy saving programme on
lighting system through identification of locations where more energy efficient

lights could be installed so as to further reduce electricity consumption.

Note 18: Baseline year is the first year in which all data required for calculation of a
particular aspect is available to the Company.
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Achievements

GHG emissions Non-hazardous waste disposed
BERBHM BEBEZEY
&
0 (0]
38.30% 23.31%
(baseline year EXF : 2017) (baseline year E#4F : 2019)
@_ Energy use ? Water consumption
@\’ BEREH o 2 Ak
o) AS o)
> 12.56% <> 13.49%
(baseline year ZX4F : 2017) (baseline year FEHEF : 2017)
. collected 136 kg of lai see packets for reuse/recycling o WEABRAFFEEHERERER, W
. collected 2.2 kg of contact lens packaging for recycling o WS 2R TRFREREERERUL

o obtained a Certificate of Merit under the Commendation Scheme on . RIRRBEMN TR EREYRIEN EE
Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial Waste organised by Ehst2l | ESERSE
the EPD

o gained accreditation under the Hong Kong Green Organisation ° ﬁé(%&;ﬁﬁz@&% R | ERUREE R ERER.

Certification for achievement in waste reduction and energy saving 1 RIBAAE

o being a signatory to both the Energy Saving Charter 2024 and 4T °

SEOARBENEAERNMEEH S ERN
Charter as jointly launched by the Environment and Ecology Bureau BIREAIZ 2024 R ATH &=
and EMSD
. being a signee of the ECH,O Charter jointly launched by the WSD . RERKEZLRERFEESERESZD
and Green Council (B4 JTEREE

Note: Achievements refer to those gained by the Group and/or ISQUARE
o RRERAEERSERESREE

49 Annual Report 2024-2025 &3



Corporate Social Responsibility Report %141 &5FHfs

Compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations

During the year under review, the Group (including iISQUARE) was not aware of
any non-compliance with any laws and regulations relating to the environment
that had a significant impact on it. An overview of the laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate
Social Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on

pages 65 to 66.

Social Issues’

Since the management of ISQUARE has been outsourced to the MgtCo and
there is no need for the Group to directly deal with employment-related matters
in respect of ISQUARE, discussion on areas relating to social issues only covers
the Group and does not include staff of the MgtCo employed for general

building and property management of iISQUARE unless otherwise specified.

Note 19: Calculation bases for figures in relation to employee profile and training are based
on “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social
KPIs” as composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. All relevant
numbers, where applicable, are rounded to two decimal places.
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Employment

As the Group’s success depends largely on the support of its employees?,
the management places great emphasis on maintaining a quality workplace.
Building up a culture which advocates ethical and responsible business
practices has become essential. To this end, the Group has adopted an anti-
corruption policy and a general code of conduct (“CoC”) which apply to both
Directors and employees. The former one focuses on issues relating to anti-
corruption whilst the latter one deals with areas of data privacy, copyright
protection, prevention of bribery, whistleblowing and equal opportunities.
According to the CoC, employees are required to observe the requirements
of the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance,
the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance and their respective codes of practice. In addition, the Group has
also laid down an employment policy, setting out principles on recruitment
and promotion, such as equal opportunities and “selection on capability”
basis. Procedures and factors to be considered on review of the remuneration
packages of the senior management are delineated in the remuneration
policy. Information in respect of the Group’s remuneration review mechanism
is mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report headed “Remuneration
committee” as set out on pages 15 to 16. To be consistent with the principles
of the employment policy on motivating employees and providing equal
opportunities, performance appraisal is conducted annually. It is the basis for

salary adjustment, discretionary bonus and promotion.

Although policies on compensation and dismissal, working hours and rest
periods, and some other benefits and welfare are not put in writing, relevant
steps to govern their application and due observance have been developed
and implemented under the management of the Executive Directors of the

Company.

Note 20: In this Corporate Social Responsibility Report, “staff” and “employees” exclude
Directors of the Company and staff employed by the MgtCo for general building
and property management of ISQUARE.
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Employee profile and engagement

BETERRZ

N

=

~

®°® 31 (2024: 30)

Workforce

=]

By gender
g FEE b

Female

g

77.42%
(2024: 76.67%)

All employees
FREET

100%
(2024: 100%)

Senior management
SEEEAR

Overall
E4 ]

®g®

=

P Female

bogid

Male
Bt

22.58%
(2024: 23.33%)
0%

(2024: 0%)

Aged below 35

358 LT~
O Aged 35-55
G o

Aged above 55

55m% Mk

* by headcount
RABGTE

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitZEGR A7

All employees are full-time staff and based in Hong Kong

HrEESGBTHET @ WREETLF

O By age group
@ gzeanss
AGE
35.48% (2024: 33.33%)
Aged above 55

5557 0A

6.45% (2024: 6.67%)
Aged below 35
35BRIA T

\ 58.07% (2024: 60%)

Aged 35-55
35-555%

Turnover rate

BRE =
00/0 (2024: 6.67%)
0% (2024: 14.29%)

0% (o24: 4.35%)
0% (2024: 50%)
0% (2024: 0%)

0% (024: 10%)
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Although the Group does not have a collective bargaining policy or similar
practice in place, it respects its employees and takes steps to ensure their
voices are heard. Other than departmental meetings and communication
through emails, the Group encourages direct dialogue between the
management and staff by adopting a non-bureaucratic culture. Employees can

freely bring up issues to the management when they consider necessary.

Given the importance of understanding its employees’ concerns on an ongoing
basis, the Group conducts employee satisfaction survey every year by which it
can solicit staff opinions about their work environment and expectation. Survey
result is shared by the management so as to identify ways to make further
improvement. The following is an extract of the survey result conducted by the

Group in the reporting year.
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Employee engagement

EEHNSH

Overall satisfaction

ERREE

65.52% (2024: 62.96%)*
was either satisfied or very
satisfied with the Group as
a whole

HAEERE FRTME
HIEERE

Workforce-management
relationship
HEBREBR

72.41% (2024: 70.37%)"
was happy with the
workforce-management
relationship
RELEBERLT

Group cohesiveness

BER

74.19% (2024: 73.33%)
has been working with the
Group over a decade
ERAKERGBETF

Absence rate

ERE =

1.62% (2024: 1.75%)

* According to the respondents of the employee satisfaction survey conducted by the Group in 2024 or 2025, as the case may be.
BEALRER -_Z-_MFSI T -_AFWRFBEIETZEERERENSAEFZHENDE -
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Since a good work-life balance is significant to the employees, the Group
encourages its staff to complete their tasks within office hours. During the
year under review, the Company organised movie days for its staff and family
members/friends with a view to providing them with an opportunity to relax and

cultivate relationship.

In the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company was again awarded

“Good MPF Employer” by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority.

Development and training

In order to create a supportive workplace which enables the employees to
develop their professional potential and discharge their duties adequately,
the Group provides subsidy for job-related training to all full-time employees,
irrespective of their rankings. Given the complexity of job duties, senior
management is provided with additional funding for outside training. Other than
financial support, the Group also organises group-wide training for its staff from

time to time.

Key topics covered by the training undertaken by the employees during the

year under review included:

o compliance and regulatory refresher
. anti-corruption

o health issue

o Al-driven transformation

The following is an analysis on employees’ training in the financial year ended
31 March 2025.
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61 . 29 0/ 0 (2024: 73.33%)*

of employees received internal/external training

HE B R AESNELE

Training
o]
Breakdown of trained employees
EZEIEEN DMK
84.21% (2024: 81.82%) 15.79% (2024: 13.64%)
Female / Senior management
g BEEEAE

15.79% (2024: 18.18%) /° 84.21% (2024: 86.36%)
Male General staff
Esled TmET

by gender by employee category

g FElE ) RESERE D

Total training hours completed

RIE I B

ey
®°® All employees 96 (2024: 104)

) ®® IR RS Average hours B : 3.10 (2024: 3.47)
Male 6 (2024: 8)
Sk Average hour(s) 3552 : 0.86 (2024: 1.14)

- Female 90 (2024: 96)

it Average hours FH9E £k : 3.75 (2024: 4.17)
Senior management 45.5 (2024: 43.25)
EEEEAR Average hours FA9E58] : 15,17 (2024: 14.42)
General staff 50.5 (2024: 60.75)
HERT Average hours F¥I8RFE : 1.80 (2024: 2.25)

* Total number of employees who received training in the reporting year is 19 (2024: 22).
PREFEEZEIINESLERIOA(ZZZIE - 22A) ¢
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Health and safety

Since the Group’s main business is property investment and investment
holding, health and safety risks posed to its employees as a result of
occupational activities are relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group is dedicated
to provide a healthy and safe work environment to its staff and therefore has

established a policy in this regard with an emphasis on:
° compliance with all applicable statutory requirements

° ensuring a continuous improvement of the health and safety level at
workplace by reviewing the operating practices and seeking comments

from employees from time to time

o adopting measures which can reduce, control and if possible, eliminate

hazards at workplace

o conveying the Group’s concerns over health and safety to the MgtCo
and requesting it to get its front-line staff and contractors familiarised

with the proper procedure required in that regard

To ensure safety of employees, the Group has designated staff to review the
first-aid facilities at workplace at intervals and assess as to whether there is any

non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.
For the well-being of the workforce, a group-wide talk about quality sleep and

on-site massage were arranged for the employees in the reporting year.

There was no work-related fatality occurred in each of the past three financial
years, including the reporting year, and no working day was lost due to work

injury in the year under review.
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Labour standards

While the Group does not have its own specific policy regarding child labour
or forced labour, it is a statutory requirement in Hong Kong, the principal
place of business of the Group, not to engage the same. To ensure the
Group’s compliance with the laws concerning prohibition of child labour, all job
applicants are required to present identity proof for checking during recruitment
process. Should the Group discover any non-compliance during employment,
it will take remedial action, such as termination of the person concerned,
immediately and report to the relevant regulatory bodies/government
departments if necessary. Concerning prevention of forced labour, the Group
will ensure sufficient rest days are given to employees and will not force any

staff to work overtime in the situation against their will.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with any laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it relating to
employment, health and safety, and labour standards as mentioned in aspects
B1, B2 and B4 of the ESG Guide. An overview of the laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate
Social Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on

pages 65 to 66.

Supply chain management

Given the Group’s business nature and operation mode, its suppliers can
broadly be categorised into direct suppliers®’ and indirect suppliers. For
the former one, it refers to those the Group directly liaises with, such as the
MgtCo, professional service providers and some other companies that deliver
services for support of the Group’s infrastructure and office operation on
areas such as insurance, banking and information technology. Services of the
indirect suppliers, such as electrical and mechanical engineering, cleaning and
security, are provided under the umbrella of and covered by the contracts with
the MgtCo. Based on the expenditure level and the significance to the Group,
the Group’s key suppliers are bankers and the MgtCo (both of them are also
the Group’s direct suppliers), of which, the role of the latter one is particularly

important given its “contracting” relationships with the indirect suppliers.

Note 21: In the table immediately following, “direct suppliers” only refer to those having
a “spend value” with the Group of HK$50,000 or above per year (excluding
activities of non-procurement in nature and inter-company transactions) based
on the principle of materiality. All such suppliers are with operating offices
situated in Hong Kong. As for “direct suppliers” appearing in other parts of this
section, all the Group’s direct suppliers are covered, i.e. not only referring to
those being subject to the aforesaid restriction, unless otherwise specified.
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Year ended 31 March

HEZ3A31HILEE
Indicator gE 2025 2024
Number of direct suppliers BEEfEmE=E 31 31

Since suppliers, whether direct or indirect, are the “extension” of the Group,
their behaviour shall reflect the Group’s values. Although the Group does not
maintain a separate policy on managing environmental and social risks of
its supply chain, it has embedded the relevant concerns in its environmental
policy and health and safety policy. As the MgtCo is the key supplier which
poses a significant impact on the Group, it is provided with relevant policies
of the Group in the hope that it can convey the Group’s concerns to the
indirect suppliers. The MgtCo is also requested to integrate the Group’s values
into its operation process where practicable and economically viable. Apart
from engaging in frequent direct dialogue and holding regular meetings with
the MgtCo, the Group also reviews its practices from time to time so as to
reduce health and safety risks at workplace and incorporates environmental

considerations into contracting decisions where practicable.

While acknowledging the potential impact of the environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, the Group, in addition to maintaining an ongoing
communication with its suppliers, evaluates the presence of the said risks
through press and media coverage, questionnaires, and information available
on websites. Should there be any risks identified, the Group will follow it up
closely with the suppliers concerned and request them to mitigate the adverse
impact as much and as fast as possible. Together with the risk management
policy which sets out persons responsible for risk identification in place, the

Group’s approach in dealing with the said risks is properly managed.
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Given the importance of maintaining a stable and quality supply chain to
support long-term business development, the Group has set some criteria
it has to base on in selecting suppliers. They include, among other things,
price, engagement terms, track record of good practice as well as reputation.
Consideration will also be given to green factors where practicable and
economically viable. Existing suppliers with quality performance during
their contract terms will have priority over others given the importance of
business continuity. For ensuring proper control over supplier selection,
all engagements except those being immaterial are subject to the Group’s
established approval procedure, which shall involve consent given by relevant
department head and/or Executive Director(s). In order to make sure the Group
receiving quality service, it conducts review on suppliers’ performance on a
continuous basis, and the result of which will become one of the factors in
determining their further engagement. On the contrary, if the performance is
found unsatisfactory, the Group will give warning to the contractor or, for more
serious cases, terminate the contract if circumstances deemed appropriate.
The foregoing selection process, though not reduced to writing, is applicable to

all direct and indirect suppliers.

For engagement of contractors through tendering, the Group has set additional
selection requirements, which include preliminary qualification review on
contractors before shortlisted for selection and number of companies invited
for bidding. With the close supervision of the management and the adoption of
the environmental policy and procedure manuals which respectively set out the
need of giving environmental consideration in procurement where practicable
and the approval process, the practices in relation to engaging suppliers,

whether direct or indirect, are effectively implemented and monitored.

Understanding the significance of green procurement, the Group’s
environmental policy has incorporated relevant concerns therein. Suppliers
offering products with green elements are always preferred. Instead of looking
for specific suppliers, the Group focuses on products offered. For instance,
the printing firm is required to use recycled paper for annual/interim reports
and related circulars whilst the MgtCo is required to get its sub-contractors to
use products with greater energy efficiency and/or causing less harm to the
environment wherever practicable. Overwhelming focus on a particular factor in
selecting suppliers may compromise benefits brought by other factors. For the
Group, selection of suppliers is always based on myriad considerations with an

emphasis on the overall interests of the shareholders/the Group as a whole.
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Although more than 65% of the direct suppliers have been a working partner of
the Group over a decade, the Group values the relationships with them and is
eager to know if there is any room for improvement. To achieve it, a satisfaction
survey was sent to some of them on a random basis during the year under
review. The feedback of the survey was encouraging. It showed that all (2024:
all) the respondents found partnering with the Group was not merely mutually

beneficial, but also as a whole satisfactory.

Product/service responsibility

Shop tenants of iISQUARE are the Group’s key customers. Establishing a
sound and lasting relationship with them is pivotal to the success of the Group.
To facilitate a two-way communication, the management team gives a walk-
through of iISQUARE on a regular basis and pays visits to individual shops
when required so as to exchange views with the tenants directly and respond
to their concems efficiently. The tenants can also contact the management,
leasing and promotion teams via telephone and email as and when needed.
For ensuring tenants’ dissatisfaction, if any, is properly addressed to in a
timely manner, a formal complaint-handling mechanism is in place as well.
Having noted the areas the Group has to further work on, such as operational
control and technical/maintenance services, from the interaction with tenants
and shoppers, discussion with the management will be carried out to see if
and how improvement can be made. With the aim of maintaining a long-term
business partnership with tenants, the Group reviews its strategies from time to

time.

Other than customer relations, the Group also recognises the importance
of personal data protection. Relevant concemns have been incorporated into
the CoC and are communicated to the employees. According to the CoC,
employees are required to safeguard the privacy and security of personal
information of the Group’s stakeholders by observing the data protection
principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Collected information is
accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. In view of the close relationship with the
MgtCo, the Group has also made known to it of the Group’s concerns in this

regard.
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Year ended 31 March

HZE3A3NBILEEE
Indicators gE 2025 2024
Number of service-related complaints received B B RS AR B M IR FF A 2K 1 6
Number of data privacy-related complaints received BB E RSB R IR TR B 0 0

Although the Group may not be subject to many issues in relation to intellectual
property rights as its principal activities are property investment and investment
holding, it continues to make its best endeavour to observe relevant laws
and regulations. Measures taken include installation of original software
on computers and obtaining licence for newspaper copying. To prevent
employees from using unauthorised software, only designated person can do
the installation. With the aim of ensuring due observance of intellectual property
rights, all employees are required to strictly adhere to the CoC which sets out
the Group’s relevant concerns therein. The MgtCo who operates the Group’s

main investment property is also provided with the CoC.

Providing a safe environment to the tenants and shoppers is also a great
concern to the Group. Although property management of iISQUARE is the job
of the MgtCo, the Group still closely monitors it by receiving updates from the
MgtCo via regular project meetings and daily report. On top of it, the project
team also patrols ISQUARE on a daily basis so as to ensure it is managed in
an orderly fashion. As for ad hoc issues, the MgtCo is required to report to the

Group promptly.

Due to the business nature, percentage of total products subject to recalls and

quality assurance process as well as recall procedures are not applicable.
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Anti-corruption

As the Group has zero-tolerance on any forms of bribery, corruption and fraud,
it has established an anti-corruption policy setting out the relevant requirements
its directors and employees shall comply with and situations in which
acceptance of advantages is allowed. All employees are required to undertake
their adherence thereto. To provide channels and guidance for employees
and those who deal with the Group to report on any suspected irregularities,
improprieties, misconduct or malpractices within the Group, a whistleblowing
policy has been laid down and published on the Company’s website. Upon
receipt of any reported issues, investigation led by the Audit Committee will be
conducted in the manner set out therein. The Board will also be updated in due
course. To detect malpractices as early as possible, internal control activities

deemed appropriate for the Group are in place.

To promote the anti-corruption culture across the Group, a training session as
regards anti-corruption laws and regulations was organised for its Directors
and senior management during the reporting year. Employees were provided
with information about pitfall of bribery as available on the website of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption. In the year under review, the
Group was not aware of any legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against it or its employees.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with any laws and regulations that had a significant impact
on it relating to product responsibility and anti-corruption as mentioned in
aspects B6 and B7 of the ESG Guide. An overview of the laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operation can be found in this Corporate
Social Responsibility Report headed “Significant laws and regulations” on

pages 65 to 66.

Community

In recognition of its role in advancement of the community, the Group has
established a community policy. General principles on donation, focus areas (viz
those enhancing community development, improving quality of life, helping the
underprivileged groups and aligning with the Group’s development), and the
form in which the support is delivered are stipulated therein. To put words into
actions, not only did the Group during the year under review make donations to
the charities set out below, it also mobilised its staff to take part in “Dress Red
for Thalassaemia 2024” as organised by Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation.
Demonstrating its ongoing attention to the local community needs, the
Company also engaged an enterprise dedicated to creating job opportunities

for the middle-aged women to provide wellness activity for its employees.
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97.79%
(2024: 97.36%)
To enhance
community
development

EEAERRE

O
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1.73%
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Community
HE

0.48%
(2024: 0.21%)
To help the
underprivileged

groups

HEBEPHE

Po Leung Kuk
REB

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
BEBELRTmE

Greeners Action
ARCBITED

Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation
WHREEMREREE

The Society for the Promotion of
Hospice Care

ey
==l =1

Hong Kong Parkinson’s
Disease Foundation
BERSBEES

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, donations made by the Group amounted to HK$612,000 (2024: HK$437,000). Dollar amounts are rounded to the

nearest thousand.

REE-Z A= A=+ B ILUREE - AEEZIBRAEB%612,000T (Z 2 P04 : B%437,0007T) ° £EBHUSER 2 TR °

The Group believes that going beyond corporate philanthropy by providing
venues to organisations for hosting charitable events is a good way to help
the needy as it can inspire others to follow and draw the public attention to
their needs. During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group kept
offering venue to outside parties for holding events with furtherance of social
responsibility in nature at a large discount. With the aim of promoting the
concept of sharing with those in need in particular during festive season, the
Group also bought mooncakes at “Orbis Mid-Autumn Charity Sales” for its

employees.

To show its continuous care to the local community, the Group granted Po
Leung Kuk, an iconic charity in Hong Kong, a licence for placing a donation
box at iSQUARE throughout the year in question. Being supportive in building
up a socially inclusive community in particular for the elderly, iISQUARE has also

participated in the “Charter for Age-friendly Shopping Malls”.
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Significant laws and regulations

Failure to comply with laws and regulations as set out in the box below may
give rise to civil and/or criminal liability, including fines and imprisonment. A
breach of those in connection with emissions, employment/health and safety
and data privacy/anti-corruption can have a direct adverse impact on the
environment, ruin the relationship with workforce and damage the Company’s
reputation respectively. Details of management approach are set out in the

table following.

Significant laws and regulations Key ways to ensure compliance

BEEEERSAN BREFEEERPNEESZ

BELERED
RERFTRATIBNERRANTERHRS
R/EMEEL - DETRREL - EREGHN -
R RERZE  ARLE RESABNER
RMABIAIAS BIHREERERETH P E - T
HEME  ARBEARAFRE - TREVLERE
RS ANEL TR -

Emissions HER

Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)
FEY) B B 16 AD)
(BBEDIE354F)

Employment {E1&

Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

TR 1R 1605
(BREDEETE)

Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance

(Chapter 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

& B mE 1D
(BRENFE282%)

providing guidelines in the Company’s environmental policy for managing negative impact
associated with its business operation

EARRROREBOR T o E R R FEF AR A M EiRfEsl

engaging a cleaning service contractor who has in place an Environmental Management
System to arrange and dispose non-hazardous waste

ERERAREEERANBRRGARD LI LRIEEERERY)

recycling materials principally through green groups, contractors contained in the Hong
Kong Collector/Recycler Directory as appearing on the website of the EPD, and recycling
programmes/network organised/operated by the EPD

FELREEE - BIRNRERZEEEA(EELQIREERFREF)TARENRREE
BIEUGHE], S E R R R U

utilising a software which is fully compliant with relevant ordinance(s) to manage payroll and

related issues

EREENEEREIRENRERES R TEREHEER

putting in place a number of Company’s policies such as employment policy and CoC which

are in line with the employees’ rights and benefits provided in relevant laws

ARBHETZHERRERE T REREMEN —BWBER - MERBERMALETR
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Significant laws and regulations

EREERAH

Health and safety 2% 2

Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance

(Chapter 509 of the Laws

of Hong Kong)
BEL 2 REEED

(BB EDIZE509%)

Product responsibility = @ = 1F

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the Laws

of Hong Kong) (“PDPQO”)
EAE R (RLER) 1551
(FBEDIE486F ) ([ FLEREBI )

Anti-corruption R 55

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws

of Hong Kong)

B L BB R {51
(BREME201E)
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Key ways to ensure compliance

BARETEEERFINEES X

e setting out guiding principles on promoting a safe work environment in the Company’s
health and safety policy
RARRRIEREERL 2EEPHIS A (e 2 2 TEREH AR

e incorporating the principles of the PDPO in the Company’s CoC for which all employees are
required to undertake adherence to

LR AR BIPT ARS8 R RIAAR R RV E ST RIF - WREFMAEE BAAEEST

e establishing an anti-corruption policy and a whistleblowing policy whereby to emphasise the
importance of ethical business conduct and uphold an anti-corruption culture

HIERBSERMBHRER - WHEBRESELEHNTEBEAXTRANERE



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) submits herewith the
annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31 March 2025.

Principal Place of Business

Tian Teck Land Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and
domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal place of
business at 9th Floor, ISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are property investment and investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set

out in note 13 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the

“Group”) during the financial year is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

Financial Statements
The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 96 to 158.

Dividends

An interim dividend of HK$0.06 per share (2024: HK$0.06 per share) was
paid on 17 January 2025. The Board now recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.08 per share (2024: HK$0.10 per share) in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2025.

Subject to the members’ approval at the Company’s forthcoming annual
general meeting, the proposed final dividend will be paid on Friday, 17 October
2025 to members whose names appear on the register of members of the

Company on Monday, 22 September 2025.
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Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday,

5 September 2025. Details of which are set out in the notice of annual general

meeting despatched with this annual report.

Record Dates and Closure of Register of

Members

For the purposes of determining members’ eligibility to attend, speak and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and entitlement
to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company wiill

be closed, details of which are set out below. During such closure periods, no

transfer of shares will be registered.

(ii)

BREREFKRE
ARFNBEHORRAFAGER - F-AF
NATERERET o SHERNEAT R G
MBRAEAEEER

AR EEREREERTFE

Eﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁf¢“ﬁ%%ﬁ?2&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
WHE L#EEREE  URBERERER 2R

ﬂ% mﬁé’Kﬂﬁﬁ LIEMEREBRFE -
BT - REEIERME L TE 2 HRE - A
%@ﬂ$ﬁLﬁﬂﬁ°

For determining members’ eligibility to attend, speak and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company:

AREFERHEARANEETIRRAFAE URELBFTRERNRE :

Latest time to lodge transfer documents* for registration

RIEBPXMHEB R ZIRRR

Closure of register of members

e BB TE

Record date

S8k A

4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 28 August 2025 (Hong Kong time)
ZECRFNAZTNAB 2N TN TR =15 (BEERE)

Friday, 29 August 2025 to Friday, 5 September 2025 (both dates

inclusive)

—ECRFNAZTABESRRE=F
IFH(ERMRBEEN)

“hENARBESR

Friday, 5 September 2025
—E_RFNARBESR

For determining members’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend:

AEEAREREZZRYPRENKE :

Latest time to lodge transfer documents* for registration

KRB P X EB R ZIRF R

Closure of register of members

iRk 8B R TE

Record date

SOk A H

4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 17 September 2025 (Hong Kong time)
—ECRFNAATEARB=TFER=9 (FERRE)

Thursday, 18 September 2025 to Monday, 22 September 2025 (both
dates inclusive)
“ZCRFAATN\REHRE
IH(ERMRBIEEN)

—E-RFEAA-t+-HEH—

Monday, 22 September 2025
—ECRFAAZTZHBE#-

All transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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Business Review and Commentary

Business model and strategies

The Group’s business is property investment in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The Group generates and preserves its value through being an investor

in those property markets.

To accomplish this, the Group strives to nurture growth from its existing
properties through prudent management. Whilst the Group generally maintains
a prudent and conservative approach towards property investment, it also
seeks to exploit opportunities for future development. With the aim of securing
stable and recurring returns, the Group has adopted very stringent investment

criteria and targets only high quality projects and investments.

The Group recognises the importance of sound financial strength to support
sustainable growth and future development and hence, its fundamental
strategy is to maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flows and a

low gearing ratio.

Financial results
The Group achieved a profit from operations before valuation changes in
investment properties of HK$188.7 million for the financial year ended 31

March 2025, which is similar to the previous financial year.

Valuation losses on investment properties for the financial year ended 31 March
2025 amounted to HK$753.8 million, compared with the net valuation gains of
HK$230.9 million for the previous financial year. The valuation changes will only

affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows of the Group.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of HK$322.0
million for the financial year ended 31 March 2025, compared with a profit
attributable to equity shareholders of HK$193.7 million for the previous financial

year.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Financial results (continued)

iISQUARE is a commercial complex housing retail, entertainment, food
and beverage establishments. Rental income from iSQUARE amounted to
approximately HK$296.5 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2025,
representing an increase of approximately 2.3% compared with the previous
financial year. The occupancy rate at 31 March 2025 was approximately 77.1%

(2024: 73.1%).

The Group’s investment properties, comprising four floors of Goodluck
Industrial Centre in Lai Chi Kok and one floor of a commercial building in
Guangzhou in the People’s Republic of China, continued to generate rental

income during the year.

Capital structure and liquidity
The total equity for the Group at 31 March 2025 was HK$7,521.1 million,
compared with HK$8,273.1 million at 31 March 2024.

On 7 October 2013, Associated International Hotels Limited (“AIHL”), a 50.01%
owned subsidiary, entered into a facility agreement with a bank comprising a
3-year term loan facility of up to HK$200 million and a 3-year revolving loan
facility of up to HK$100 million both at floating interest rate. Following the first
supplemental agreement for extension of the facilities to 8 October 2021, AIHL
entered into the second supplemental agreement with the bank on 23 August
2021 for extension of the facilities for three years to 8 October 2024. With the
agreement of the lending bank, the facilities have been further extended for two
additional years to 8 October 2026. At 31 March 2025, the banking facilities
were utilised to the extent of HK$200 million (2024: HK$200 million) and the
Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total bank loans divided by total equity)

was 2.7% (2024: 2.4%).
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)

Staff

At 31 March 2025, the total number of employees of the Group, excluding the
staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited for
general building and property management of iISQUARE, was 38 (2024: 37)
and the related costs incurred during the year were approximately HK$32.4

million (2024: HK$30.4 million).

In addition to salaries, medical and retirement benefits, the Group pays
discretionary bonuses to its staff. Sponsorships for necessary outside training

courses are also provided by the Group to its staff.

Key performance indicators
(@  Adjusted cost of services to revenue ratio
o Definition and calculation: Adjusted cost of services to revenue
ratio measures the operation performance by comparing adjusted
cost of services as a percentage of revenue (adjusted cost of
services are calculated by deducting impairment losses on
accounts receivable from usual cost of services). It shows the
level of direct expenditure required to generate every dollar of

revenue.

o Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The ratio provides
direction on controlling and better using expenses. iISQUARE is
the principal investment of the Group and it contributed 96.2% of
the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: 95.1%). The extent to which this goal has been achieved
is assessed by comparing the ratio for ISQUARE from one year to
the next, as it is an indicator showing the operation performance

of ISQUARE.

o Quantified KPI data: The adjusted cost of services to revenue ratio

for ISQUARE at 31 March 2025 was 31.1% (2024: 32.1%).
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Business Review and Commentary (continued) E S ACI PSR
Key performance indicators (Continued) BRRINIEZE @)
(b)  Occupancy rate (o) HFE=R
. Definition and calculation: Occupancy rate is a measure that . EENE  HERERMBERRIRA

reflects the leasing performance. It is defined as lettable area that

have been rented out as a percentage of the total lettable area.

° Purpose: The Group aims to enhance leasing performance.
The extent to which this goal has been achieved is assessed by
comparing occupancy rate for each investment property from
one year to the next, as it is an indicator showing the leasing

performance of various properties in the Group.

° Quantified KPI data:

BE7%  eROHELAIEAEREGR
AIHAEENBE DL

. B REBELUEREBRRADRE -
%R —ARTAEETRNEHEE
KBS B —FRET— &
IR R R S T B B E B
R -

o  EcERIBRRFEE:

Occupancy rate

HE =
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

Investment properties REME R2025F3H831H 7202443 H31H

ISQUARE B[R &5 771% 73.1%

Other commercial properties in Hong Kong R BBEMEEYE 100% 100%

Commercial properties in Mainland China AR B AR e % 12.1% 23.6%

Industrial properties in Hong Kong URBEENTEYE 15.9% — 100% 51.8% — 100%
Environmental policies, performance and related IRIBEBER « RIANLHEBEWNES ; BERZE
compliance; key relationships with stakeholders MHEEZENEERZ

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, REBCATHEODR RS2 EKMEL BEBEARER
compliance with environmental-related laws and regulations as well as key RIBEE MRIR - B TEIRIBHBEAER IR -
relationships with its stakeholders as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong U REEFZHABE 2 BEZ@ENm - JIEHRNAK
Companies Ordinance can be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility FIRFEECOEMNPEMSETHRENRN » MLET

Report on pages 39 to 66 of the annual report, and such discussions form part mBAESEMEN—ID o

of this Directors’ Report.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the
Corporate Governance Report headed “Risk Management and Internal Control
— Principal risks and uncertainties” as set out on pages 26 to 29 of the annual

report, and such discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Particulars of important events
The Board has not identified any important events affecting the Group that

have occurred since the end of the financial year.

Outlook

Despite various measures introduced by the Hong Kong government to boost
the retail market in Hong Kong, the change in consumption pattern of residents
and visitors would still pose constraints on driving local consumption in both
retail and catering sectors. The management will continue to take appropriate
measures to cope with the changing environment. It is anticipated that rental
income from ISQUARE and the results from operations of the Group for the

coming financial year will be adversely affected.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheong Kheng Lim
Cheong Keng Hooi
Cheong Sim Lam

Cheong Chong Ling
Cheong Tiong Ham
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
Wong Yiu Tak

Tse Pang Yuen

In accordance with articles 95 and 96 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Ms Cheong Chong Ling and Mr Tse
Pang Yuen shall retire from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. None of the directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, directors of all the
Company’s subsidiaries (except those set out below whose directors also
included persons named against them) were Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr

Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong Sim Lam.
o Associated International Hotels Limited (“AIHL”): Ms Cheong Chong
Ling, Mr Cheong Tiong Ham, Mr Cheong Chin Hong Rodney, Mr Chow

Wan Hoi, Paul, Mr Wong Yiu Tak and Mr Lee Chung

o Metropolitan (International) Limited: Ms Cheong Chong Ling
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Confirmation of Independence

For the year ended 31 March 2025, each independent non-executive director
has provided a written confirmation of his/her independence to the Company.
After reviewing the said confirmations in particular by reference to the
independence requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) as well as their
competencies and performance, the Company considers all the independent

non-executive directors continue to be independent.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2025, the directors and chief executives of the Company
had the following interests in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers (“Model Code”):

(@ The Company

18 3 M RV TE R

(EZERAF-A-T+—ALEFE - SEIER
TEFCRAARAREEREBIHENEDER
£ ERRATLERE (BRI E(EBH AR
BRAEIFAE WA EFRA )z B
MER)REENMERRE  ARBBERBIE
B EMITEEORBE AL -

ESEkESTRAEERD - HE
RO MEEEPRER AR

BA R A RRCE 77 R R RO (1 #5501 1) 8
3521 RIF B RMAER - LB EMHITA
ERETEFRSNRESTRD(RETA D) AE
A XARAR REBRERSAER AR (MBI
FR DR R - ARFAIMNES RESTHRAER
CECRAFZ AT RAEBAQR REAHAE
(AR & EZ ROIBXVED SR B ) D 2 #Eas 0
E

@ AAF

Number of shares

RHHE
Approximate
Total % of total
Personal Family Other beneficial issued voting
interests’ interests? interests interests shares
HEBITH
EREE
BEEEs ROBEZ
Name A EARER RE R R? HitfEs By BMPYEIH
Cheong Kheng Lim SETRAR 46,023,872 115,292 — 46,139,164 9.72%
Cheong Keng Hooi SEmiE 26,862,036 1,002,384 — 27,864,420 5.87%
Cheong Sim Lam fE5 1,099,504 - - 1,099,504 0.23%
Cheong Chong Ling $EIEIS 412,000 — — 412,000 0.09%
Cheong Tiong Ham R 270,000 — — 270,000 0.06%
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald &R 7,205,333 500,000 — 7,705,333 1.62%
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and EENBSTRAEERD - HE
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares BRI FEREZEFNERRRE @)
and Debentures (continued)

(b) Associated International Hotels Limited (b) SEEFREIEERA A

Number of ordinary shares

LERHA
Approximate
Total % of total
Personal Family Other beneficial issued voting
interests' interests? interests interests shares
HEBITH
BRERE
Bz ROEEZ
Name ®A EARER XERER? HibfEz By WHEI
Cheong Kheng Lim SFEIRMR 24,555,715 1,034,000 — 25589715 7.11%
Cheong Keng Hooi SEImEE 11,759,839 275,280 — 12,035,119 3.34%
Cheong Sim Lam $ELmE 1,807,155 24,000 - 1,831,155 0.51%
Cheong Chong Ling SERS 1,588,000 — — 1,588,000 0.44%
Cheong Tiong Ham SR 1,068,000 8,009 - 1,076,009 0.30%
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald ~ 4&#&#4 2,225,000 — — 2,225,000 0.62%
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures (continued)

(c) Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited

EENBESTHRAEERD - 1HE
B A0 MERERE P AV SOX R ()

) REBRAQT

Number of ordinary shares

ZEREE
Approximate
Total % of total
Personal Family Other beneficial issued voting
interests’ interests? interests interests shares
HEBRTH
RE#E
BRERr ROSE
Name HE B AR REREE Hitihgzs By  BREIH
Cheong Kheng Lim SEEEY\ 25 - - 25 25%
Cheong Keng Hooi §E e 25 — — 25 25%
Cheong Sim Lam $ELmE 25 — - 25 25%
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald &R 8 43 44 255 25 25%

! Personal interests represent interests held in the capacity of beneficial owner.
2 Family interests represent interests of spouse unless otherwise specified.

8 Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald is interested in 25 shares as an executor of the estate
of Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, out of which he is the beneficiary of 15% of such shares
(i.e. 3 and % shares, rounded to 4 shares for disclosure purpose under the SFO).

4 The family interests of 4 shares represent interests of Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald’s
two children who are under 18. Each of them is a beneficiary of /; of 5 shares (i.e.
1 and ?/; shares each, rounded to 2 shares for disclosure purpose under the SFO)

under the estate of Mr Cheong Hooi Hong.

5 The other interests of 25 shares represent interests held as an executor of the estate

of Mr Cheong Hooi Hong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors or chief
executives of the Company had interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial FERRREMA LIRS FEE
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and IR PR RS

Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2025, other than the interests of the directors and chief B EalFriFE s AR EE NEETTHRAEMEZR
executives of the Company as disclosed above, the Company has been N ARNBEBA - WRERE IRREFHKHI5£336
notified of the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded in R TN ELMOER AR  RoE-HFE=
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: A=+—BHMALRRRRO 2EREWT ¢

Approximate

% of total

Number of issued voting

shares shares

HEBITH

ERER

B4EE

BOEE BHNEDLE

Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited KEBR AT 237,370,032 50.001%

Cheong Kheng Lim $EIFMR 46,139,164 9.72%
(Note 1)(F%1)

Cheong Keng Hooi B 27,864,420 5.87%
(Note 2)(5¥2)

Lim Yoke Soon S =i 46,139,164 9.72%
(Note 1)(F%1)

Wu Soo Huei RREE 27,864,420 5.87%

(Note 2)(5¥2)

Notes: 7

1) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the same as the 46,139,164 1) B AR ENEREAEREBMRE B LT HEN

shares disclosed by his spouse, Ms Lim Yoke Soon. Out of the 46,139,164 shares, 46,139,164 f% % 10 18 [ © 7£ 46,139,164 i Iz fn & -
46,023,872 shares were held by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, and 115,292 shares were 46,023,872 BB AEIFA 115,202 A1 A E
held by Ms Lim Yoke Soon. BRZTIEE ©

@ The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Keng Hooi is the same as the 27,864,420 @) ENEAEMEEAOESEEREREEL T HED

shares disclosed by his spouse, Ms Wu Soo Huei. Out of the 27,864,420 shares, 27,864,420 f% % 0 18 & © 7£ 27,864,420 il o # -
26,862,036 shares were held by Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, and 1,002,384 shares 26,862,036/% A SEAE L £35H 1,002,384 % 8l A AK
were held by Ms Wu Soo Huei. BELZ LA -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no other interests or short M EFTiIRTEEIIN RZE_RF=A=1+—H -
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company required to be AR BIND VB AN B R T ) EAth (R S R B k0 58
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO 33614 B H T I Z M A 2N A BIR% 0 A48 B8 A (0

have been notified to the Company. RS R o
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company, its parent company or controlling shareholder or any of their
respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
or an entity connected with him (within the meaning of section 486 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) had a material interest (whether directly or
indirectly), was entered into in the year or subsisted at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the

Listing Rules

(@) Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald’s director’'s emoluments® for the financial
year ended 31 March 2025 increased by HK$907,000 to HK$981,000,
of which, HK$833,000 (2024: HK$68,000) was covered by his service

contract with the Company as the chief investment officer.

Save as aforesaid, there are no changes in the directors’” emoluments
at the Company level for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 when
compared with the last financial year whilst changes at the Group
level are due to payment made by the Company’s listed subsidiary in
respect of allowances for expenses actually incurred by some executive
directors. The Group’s policy regarding the said expenses has not

changed.

(b) Ms Cheong Chong Ling has been appointed as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company and AIHL with effect from 30

June 2025.

Note:

Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald’s appointments as the director and the chief investment
officer took effect on 26 February 2024.

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in force

and was in force throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2025.
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Management Contracts

l:l /lIJ

(@)  Agreements exist between the Company and AIHL, a 50.01% owned (a) AREHEB50.01%EZHIHE AT — B
subsidiary, whereby AIHL agrees to provide administrative services HEANBGBERAROHE - BRIEZSH
(company secretarial) and non-administrative services (office facilities and & B RE AR QTR TR (A B
staff) to the Company for an indefinite period. The aggregate fees paid ) NMIETHIRAE (AT REREE) - AN
to AIHL for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$1,200,000 ARBZE—Z-_AF=-A=1+—HIEFER
(2024: HK$1,200,000). ST BRI AR & A A RE A5 1,200,000

T(ZZ P04 : #¥#1,200,0007T) °

() A management agreement exists between AIHL and Cushman & (o) SEAMBERTVXEEERBRAGRE TE
Wakefield Property Management Limited whereby this management B o BIEWE  ZEEANAAEHE
company is responsible for general building and property management E%i%ﬁ’\]*Q%?&%%E@(E@%ﬂ%ﬁ%@ﬁ@ﬂﬁ
(except for the services relating to tenancy) of iSQUARE. The FRIBRIN) « ZBERBIBHEAEDHEZT—ZFN
management agreement was renewed for a term of twelve months ANBRESH+ @A HEEEFEHE
commencing on 6 August 2012 and shall be automatically renewed on R B EAEERILE HE-_ZE_-Hh
an annual basis thereafter, subject to the right of termination by AIHL. FZA=+—HILFE B HAHEE
Manager’s remuneration of HK$600,000 (2024: HK$600,000) was paid EE ABEB00,000T( ZE_MNF « B
by AIHL for the year ended 31 March 2025. 600,0007T) °

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the management and I8 = I NN ) AN S AN N 2 SR R ] 1

B M BEREREBAETERLINE

Company was entered into or existed during the year. # o

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the B4
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Fixed Assets

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out as follows:

Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation

Location

b B

BEEE
AEEEANENT :

Existing use

BRERR

HERGERREYE

Term of lease

HEFH

iISQUARE (excluding an office on 9th Floor)

63 Nathan Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
(Kowloon Inland Lot No. 7425)

RES (T ERURVEBHRAE)

NERAPBREBCE ST =5
(LBERHER 742558 )

Good Luck Industrial Building

Unit A on the Ground and 1st Floor,
and Car Parking Spaces Nos.

L1, L2, L3 & L4 on the Ground Floor,
105 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon

(Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 22)
HETERE

HTABR - —1BAER X
HRLA ~ L2 ~ L3RLAFELRL
NEBMETNRAE—AT R
(BB M ER 22557 )

Goodluck Industrial Centre

Ground, 2nd, 3rd and 4th Floors,
808 Lai Chi Kok Road,

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

(New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 5780)
FFE T AL

T i =R
NERDEZRABNABZT/\5H
(R LBE ML ERST805R)

Shopping centre

BT L

Workshops and

car parking spaces

THRIFERA

Petrol filing station, showrooms,
car parking spaces and

car workshops

A BRINE - FEUKRER
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Medium

T

Medium

T

Medium

T
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Fixed Assets continued) BE&E @)
Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation HERFERZEYE @
(Continued)

Location Existing use Term of lease
Hb B RERAR HEFH
Euro Trade Centre Offices Long

5th Floor,

Nos. 13-14 Connaught Road Central and

Nos. 21-23 Des Voeux Road Central,

Hong Kong

(Marine Lot No.366)

BFEE S0 PAE ~H
hig

ERETHET =2+

EEER _t—E_+=%

(/8351 R 36657 )

Yi An Plaza Offices Medium
Unit 1 to 14, 8th Floor,

No. 33 Jianshe Liu Road,

Yuexiu District,

Guangzhou,

People’s Republic of China

HEZES /NS A
NE—ZE+mERL

BN T S [

BERAEE=T=%
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s revenue attributable to the largest customer and
to the five largest customers accounted for 11% and 39% of the Group’s total
revenue respectively. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less

than 30% by value of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year have the directors, their close associates or any
member of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in

these major customers.

Bank Loan and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March

2025 are set out in notes 20 to 21 to the financial statements.

Retirement Schemes
Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 24 to the financial

statements.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$612,000 (2024: HK$437,000).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption by the Company
and its Subsidiaries of its Listed Securities

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of treasury shares) by the Company or any of its

subsidiaries during the year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the

Listing Rules.
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Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on pages 159 to 160 of the annual report.

Auditor

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to be

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Cheong Kheng Lim

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEHSEEEASEAGRE

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, aged 76, has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited since 1969 and 1984 respectively. He
is the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company and Associated International Hotels
Limited. Mr Cheong is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co.,

Limited and various subsidiaries of the Group.

He is the brother of Messrs Cheong Keng Hooi and Cheong Sim Lam, and
also the father of Ms Cheong Chong Ling and Mr Cheong Tiong Ham, who are

directors of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, aged 72, has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited since 1983 and 1984 respectively.
He is the Chief Project Officer of Associated International Hotels Limited. He
is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Cheong holds a degree of Bachelor of Business

Administration from the University of Hawaii.

He is the brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim and Cheong Sim

Lam.

Mr Cheong Sim Lam, aged 66, has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited since 1983 and 1984 respectively. He
is the Chief Investment Officer of Associated International Hotels Limited. He
is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various
subsidiaries of the Group. He obtained a certificate in Accounting and General
Business from Kapiolani Community College, Hawaii and has over 45 years of

working experience.

He is the brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim and Cheong Keng

Hooi.
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Executive Directors continued)

Ms Cheong Chong Ling (also known as Cheong Chong Ling Diamond),
aged 54, joined the Group as an assistant to directors in 1997. She has been
a director of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited since
2007 and has been appointed as a member of the nomination committee of
the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited with effect from 30
June 2025. She has also been a director of a subsidiary of the Company since
2023. Ms Cheong is the Chief Administration Officer of Associated International
Hotels Limited and holds a degree of Bachelor of Science from the School of

Hotel Administration at Cornell University.

She is the daughter of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and the sister of Mr Cheong
Tiong Ham, who are directors of the Company and Associated International

Hotels Limited.

Mr Cheong Tiong Ham (also known as Benz Cheong Tiong Ham), aged
51, joined the Group as leasing manager of Associated International Hotels
Limited in 2003 and has been the Head of Leasing and Marketing Department
of that company since 2009. He has been a director of the Company and
Associated International Hotels Limited, and the Chief Operation Officer of
Associated International Hotels Limited since 2023. Mr Cheong holds a degree
of Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from Boston University in the
United States and a degree of Master of Applied Finance from the University of

Melbourne in Australia.

He is the son of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and the brother of Ms Cheong Chong
Ling, who are directors of the Company and Associated International Hotels

Limited.

Mr Cheong Chin Joo Gerald (also known as Zhong Zhenyu Gerald), aged
49, has been a director and the Chief Investment Officer of the Company since
2024. Mr Cheong holds a Master of Finance from RMIT University in Australia
and a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Economics from Simon Fraser University
in Canada. Prior to the appointments, he worked in a corporate advisory firm
advising clients on corporate finance projects and over a decade in corporate
finance department of a law firm taking charge of management and execution

of initial public offerings as well as mergers and acquisitions.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, aged 69, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited since
2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee (as chairman),
remuneration committee (as chairman) and nomination committee (as member)
of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited. Mr Chow has
significant experience in accounting and finance and has been an Associate of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales since 1983 and is

a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Wong Yiu Tak, aged 78, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company and Associated International Hotels Limited since 2017. He
currently also serves on the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company and Associated International Hotels
Limited. Mr Wong holds a degree of Bachelor of Science (Honours) from The
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Law from Peking University. He is
now a serving solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant to Messrs S.K. Wong &

Co., Solicitors & Notaries.

Mr Tse Pang Yuen, aged 79, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr Tse
is a veteran lawyer. He is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and
Singapore and has been a managing partner of Messrs Stephen Lo & P. Y. Tse,

Solicitors since 1987.
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Senior Management

Ms Susan Chan So Some, aged 74, joined the Group in 1987 and has been
the financial controller since 1990. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Chan was a
chief accountant of the Group’s ultimate holding company. She has over 45

years of experience in accounting and financial management.

Ms Ng Sau Fong, Aca, Hkaca, aged 55, holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts
from The University of Hong Kong. Ms Ng joined the Group in 1992 as assistant
to directors and has been the company secretary of the Company and

Associated International Hotels Limited since 2004.

Ms Wong Siu Mei, cra, aged 56, is the accounting manager of the Company.
She holds a degree of Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Company in 2008, Ms Wong worked

for a multinational corporation over 9 years in field of accounting and treasury.

Note: Ms Chan and Ms Ng are employed by Associated International Hotels Limited
and serve the Company pursuant to the management agreement between the
Company and Associated International Hotels Limited.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

B ZBERE

KPMG

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of Tian Teck Land Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian Teck Land
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
96 to 158, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been

properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(*HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BB SR
ARBELSESREBERMANFEXHE - R AH
HRAVBREANECRREENEH - GLFHR
ERMERBRERAVHERE R AEREETR
BH o BT SHELFREHEBNER

Valuation of investment properties

REMENGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BLbr A BRI F I i 12 5B AT 1(a) »

The key audit matter
EREXKSERE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERNTREZSEE

The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. These investment properties
are primarily represented by iSQUARE, a shopping and
entertainment complex located in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.
EEERNEB LT EAMIFEBERENE - GLIREMHE
WEZERRBBBRES - BRESUESERDHE  £—@
FEREREDHL

Management’s assessment of the fair value of investment
properties is based on valuations performed by an external
property valuer in accordance with recognised industry
standards. Such valuation required significant judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting the appropriate
valuation methodology, capitalisation rates and market rents.
EBIREIRBINEY L EMIR R R ENIREPTEITH
B FHEREMENDAAEE -  ZEHEFTEERNHE R
BEH - FRRAERIEEENMGEN S - BN E LTS
SME e

One of the key drivers of the valuation of investment properties
is rental income which can be volatile, particularly in light of the
current economic status of the retail industry in Hong Kong.
REWEMENET —ERREIRZEFERBDIE DK
A FRRER SR BB TE XN -
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

BABEHE B MR GENEZRTFRIELTERF

o assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of

the external property valuer;

SHESMNEMEMLEMEEE N - AR TEM
o obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared

by the external property valuer engaged by the Group on
which the management’s assessment of the fair value of
investment properties was based;
MEWREREREEENINEEERREIERBRTR
REMEN DA BEMGHNMERS

o discussing with the external property valuer the valuation
methodology and key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations;
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Key Audit Matters (continued) Eﬁﬁﬁ%%*ﬁ%lg(%)

I

Valuation of investment properties

REMENGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BEIE A EIRAN T 12 R @5t R N 1(d)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRERSEE EMNERNAEEZEE

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a o with the assistance of our internal property valuation
key audit matter because the valuation of investment properties specialists, on a sample basis, evaluating the
is inherently subjective and requires significant judgement appropriateness of valuation methodology applied by the
and estimation which increases the risk of error or potential external property valuer with reference to the prevailing
management bias. accounting standards and challenging the reasonableness
BMCEEENREMEMEY AEREEZEE  AARE of the adopted capitalisation rates and prevailing market
WEMEFEERBSXTENXD > YAFEEANHETMMGET - rents, by comparing the key estimates and assumptions
femsgin T HEEEREBAREMNER - used by the external property valuer in the valuation of

each investment property with available market data and/
or government produced market statistics; and
EHMOANBDEEEASHBET - AR
B2ERITH G LRI AR A INIE Y 2 (A RD T IR
IR ETEZ R EERBE B BN XL ERMAES
REYMELETRBOEZ2EA RERETHNTS
RN S BIBUT R SR TS AR EUE - WATERA
B EMBINTISES 2 S BIERDER &

o comparing, on a sample basis, the tenancy information,
including committed rents and occupancy rates, provided
by the Group to the external property valuer with
underlying contracts and documentation.

AR - hREERER - BEaESERINEY
EMERMEHENAGEEE REEE - AREBE R
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Information Other Than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z 2R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group’s internal control.
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z 2R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the Group audit.

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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Independent Auditor's Report B3 Z 2R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Lam Leong Wai (practising certificate number: PO7793).

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEERAXR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8 Z = =R =A=+— B It FE (LB EF|R)

2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
FoaE T Tt
Revenue L ON 3 308,131 304,557
Cost of services BRAGAL AR (97,405) (96,865)
Gross profit ER 210,726 207,692
Other revenue E A 5 22,336 25,625
Other net loss HithEs B35 5 (164) (1,948)
Administrative expenses TRER (44,160) (42,614)
Profit from operations before valuation BREYELESBHIN
changes in investment properties B HR 188,738 188,755
Valuation (losses)/gains on investment properties 12 &2 (h1E (E518) /&7 12(a) (753,794) 230,905
(Loss)/profit from operations after valuation  REYEEESEFHEHNEE
changes in investment properties (&518) %R (565,056) 419,660
Finance costs BhE R AR 6(a) (11,239) (11,532)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBEAT(B518), BT 6 (576,295) 408,128
Income tax FriSHi 9(a) (25,955) (26,048)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income ZEE (E518) %5 K%
for the year ZHEWBAELE (602,250) 382,080
Attributable to: THIA L4 :
— Equity shareholders of the Company — RRIEERE (321,982) 193,732
— Non-controlling interests — IR AR R e (280,268) 188,348
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income <4 (18) /%K &
for the year 2HEBAREE (602,250) 382,080
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(EE), B
— basic and diluted — EXREE 11 $(0.68) $0.41

F102E 158 B MKt B A SRR —35 ° RS
AR R BB HRHIEE10 -

The notes on pages 102 to 158 form part of these financial statements. Details of

dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 10.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e R R

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A ZZ2=-_H&=A=+—H (B ¥ R)

2025 2024
Note $’000 $'000
M5 T T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets EEE 12(a)
— Investment properties - VES 7,250,030 8,001,439
— Other properties, plant and equipment — HiWz - BE REE 44,462 48,521
7,294,492 8,049,960
Deferred tax assets EIETRIEEE 9(d) 226 95
7,294,718 8,050,055
Current assets REBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments  FEIBRFR « 31 & RTBF R 14 120,463 114,446
Current tax recoverable ZNERFE U S 9(c) 678 -
Pledged bank deposits EEBIRITIER 15 5,675 9,302
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEED 16(a) 572,862 570,577
699,678 694,325
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEMEN R R EREA 17 22,684 29,199
Deposits received BEWETE 18 110,550 113,308
Provision for long service payments RERS & 2 E& 19 2,917 2,556
Current tax payable AEAFETFT SR 9(c) 4,773 2,038
140,924 147,101
Net current assets RBEEFE 558,754 547,224
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERREBAER 7,853,472 8,597,279
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loan — secured IRITER — BHEA 20 200,000 200,000
Government lease premiums payable JE < BT 3 B 21 1,319 1,408
Deferred tax liabilities FLERIRE E 9(d) 131,048 122,772
332,367 324,180
NET ASSETS EEFE 7,521,105 8,273,099
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position &8 #EikR&
At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A ZZ2=—_HF=A=+—H (B ¥ R)

2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
FdaE Fr T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERR#E 22
Share capital [N 22(b) 121,830 121,830
Reserves i 3,825,847 4,223,786
3,947,677 4,345,616
Non-controlling interests FEIER AR R 3,573,428 3,927,483
TOTAL EQUITY RERBE 7,521,105 8,273,099
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025. EEeN T -RAFANA T HEBEREWFFAIEEE -
Cheong Kheng Lim Cheong Chong Ling E) =F
Director Director SEEM EIRR
The notes on pages 102 to 158 form part of these financial statements. F102E 1588 Wi B A IEIREMN—TH ©

Tian Teck Land Limited X &b E AR A H 98



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8 Z =S =R F=A=+—H L FE (LUBEZIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARERRRIEN
Non-
Share Revaluation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve earnings Total interests equity
FER
BE  BRE  REER BEm  RREE ERAE
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fitzt T Tr Tr T T T
Balance at 1 April 2023 202354518 MEE 121,830 900,951 3,200,313 4,223,094 3,809,323 8,032,417
Changes in equity for the year: ~ AEERERSE
Profit and total comprehensive AEERMNEE2EMAEE
income for the year - - 193,732 193,732 188,348 382,080
Dividends approved in respect of B F—BI B FE A
the previous financial year fi% 2. 10(b) - - (42,726) (42,726) - (42,726)
Dividends declared in respectof BRI ABTHEE IR
the current financial year % & 10(a) - - (28,484) (28,484) - (28,484)
Dividends paid to non-controling X3RRI AR AR &,
interests — - - — (70,188) (70,188)

Balance at 31 March 2024 and ~ }2024%3831A R

1 April 2024 2024F4 A1 B & e 121,830 900,951 3,322,835 4,345,616 3,927,483 8,273,099
Changes in equity for the year: ~ REERERSE
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEREZARALE

income for the year - — (321982 (321,982  (280,268)  (602,250)
Dividends approved in respect of B F—BI B E L
the previous financial year % 5. 10(b) - - (47,473) (47,473) - (47,473)
Dividends declared in respect of ~ BRARBTHEE IR
the current financial year % 2. 10(a) - - (28,484) (28,484) - (28,484)
Dividends paid to non-controling 37 SRR AR AR R A0 RRS.
interests - - - - (73,787) (73,787)
Balance at 31 March 2025 R2025E3A31 AW AR 121,830 900,951 2,924,896 3,947,677 3,573,428 7,521,105
The notes on pages 102 to 158 form part of these financial statements. F102E 158 B MM B A IEIREMN—TH ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GMERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8 Z =S =R F=A=+—H L FE (LUBEZIR)

2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
k=3 Frx T
Operating activities ReEFEH
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (&18), & T (576,295) 408,128
Adjustments for: FHEIER -
— Interest income — FBEWA (20,934) (24,063)
— Finance costs — REERAR 11,239 11,532
— Depreciation — e 4,323 4,539
— Valuation losses/(gains) on investment — REWELERE(&F)
properties 753,794 (230,905)
— Net loss on disposals of fixed assets — REETEERE TR 1 2
— Foreign exchange loss — HNEE [ 3 518 175 1,963
Operating profit before changes in EEESEBAKE RN
working capital 172,303 171,186
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable,  FEUBRTL « 514 RIBFE
deposits and prepayments (), m (6,465) 31,920
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Hib & e & F
accruals R, /1 m (6,417) 29
(Decrease)/increase in deposits received BUETE R ), 1 hn (2,758) 4,208
Increase in provision for long service REARRTS & SEAIE AN
payments 361 1,104
Cash generated from operations REEBRBHRS 157,024 208,447
Tax paid BIA
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BNEBREH (15,713) (20,825)
— Mainland China — Enterprises Income — BAHRBEIRL — DEMEH
Tax paid (40) (1)
Net cash generated from operating BEEBIBNESFEE
activities 141,271 187,571

Tian Teck Land Limited X &b E AR A H 100



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows S8R E&RER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8 Z =S =R =A=+— B It FE (LB EFR)

2025 2024
Note $°000 $°000
k=3 Fr T
Investing activities REFH
Interest received BUHE 21,382 23,377
Payment for purchase of fixed assets other & A B E &K
than investment properties (T BIEREDE) (265) (818)
Payment for expenditure on investment wEMZEST BT
properties (2,551) (917)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EEBIRITFFOR L 3,627 2,973
Net cash generated from investing BETHRENHESEEA
activities 22,193 24,615
Financing activities R EE
Payment for government lease premiums A BT (B
payable 16(b) (84) (80)
Interest paid on government lease premiums B 1< B FFHIE I S,
payable 16(b) (75) (79)
Interest paid on bank loan BEARITERFLR 16(0) (10,505) (11,337)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A AR AR 16(b) (762) (249)
Dividends paid BEX R (75,957) (71,210
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 324~ FEIZ A% A% 5 H A% &, (73,787) (70,188)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEBTANESFE (161,170) (163,143)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B2 R ESZE YL NELE 2,294 59,043
Cash and cash equivalents at A2024/2023F4A1BME SR
1 April 2024/2023 He%EY 570,577 511,641
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes  JMi&FE 3= 44 B iy 5/ £ ) (107)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March RA3A31EMBRERREZEY 16(a) 572,862 570,577

The notes on pages 102 to 158 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L4 & # 5l 7R )

1

Material Accounting Policies

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the

Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2 provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior

accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together

referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the investment
properties are stated at their fair value as explained in the

accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from

other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights

(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’

proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-

controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling
and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect

the change in relative interests but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when

appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in

a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(n)(ii)),

unless the investment is classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment

properties is accounted for as described in note 1(p)(i).

Other properties, plant and equipment

Other properties, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note 1(g)) and

impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of other properties, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the

date of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
(f) Leased assets (Continued)

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying

assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as

an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental

income from operating leases is recognised in accordance with

note 1(p)(i).

(9) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other
properties, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual

value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

— Land and buildings

term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 40

years after the date of completion

— Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment
— Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of other properties, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated

separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if

any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and other receivables) and accounts

receivable.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is

material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition

or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate; and

— accounts receivable: discount rate used in the

measurement of the accounts receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12

months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model

applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivable are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest on

their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating

(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and

credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their

carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or accounts
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that other properties, plant and equipment and investments
in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial
position may be impaired or an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

(h)

(Continued)

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-

generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if

measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of
an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to
profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(iiy  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the

end of the financial year (see notes 1(h)(i) and (ii)).

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(h)(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
() Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in

accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 1(r)).

(k) Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of

discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at

invoice amounts.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of

cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in

accordance with the policy set out in note 1(h)(i).

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of

those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also

arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit

can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
(n) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of
taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless

it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(d), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction

is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

()

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority

on either:
— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and

settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the

present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is

limited to the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Further details of the Group’s

revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the

accounting period in which they are earned.
(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1 Material Accounting Policies continued)
() Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the

reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are

translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the

fair value was measured.

() Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(s) Related parties

() A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
(s) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(V)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

1

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.

Changes in Accounting Policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended HKFRS

Accounting Standards that are first effective for the current accounting

period of the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant

to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Non-current liabilities with covenants

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the

Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods

have been prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not

yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

Revenue 3

The principal activity of the Group is property investment.

Revenue represents gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes only one
customer (2024: one customer) with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenue. During the year, revenue from this

customer amounted to approximately $33,600,000 (2024: $37,939,000).

Segment Information 4
The Group has a single reportable segment which is “Property leasing”.
Accordingly, the business segment information for this sole reportable

segment is equivalent to the consolidated figures.

No separate geographical information is presented as the Group’s
revenue and results of property leasing were derived from Hong Kong

and Mainland China.

A
ARENTELISAMERE -

WAREREDENE R R RKAES AR
o

AEBEFEEZTCNEPER  EPRE—
2(ZZE-WEF - —R)XSHEAEERAE

BIORMEF - RAFE - REZEFHK
A#933,600,0007C (= U4 : 37,939,000

ERAEENERENBAMEETREE
BRPEAL - gUtREERTEET 27 -

Other Revenue and Net Loss 5 HtWAKEEFEE
2025 2024
$°000 $000
Fr T
Other revenue Hihg A
Interest income FLEMA 20,934 24,063
Compensation from early termination of leases #EAT4X T E FTEES R EEE — 1
Others Hith 1,402 1,561
22,336 25,625
Other net loss HinEEF8E
Net foreign exchange loss HNEETE W 18 2R (163) (1,946)
Net loss on disposals of fixed assets EEETEESBTRE 1) @
(164) (1,948)

121

Annual Report 2024-2025 &3}



Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

6 (Loss)/Profit Before Taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6 PFRFLA]

(B18), &

Al

BAT(ER), s FIE kR, (GEA) |

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
F Tt
(@) Finance costs (a) ®EHAK
Interest on bank loan IRITERFE 10,438 11,206
Other borrowing costs HAbfE R 730 250
Interest on government lease FERT B HOE T B
premiums payable 71 76
11,239 11,5632
(o)  Staff costs (b) BIFAK
Salaries, wages and other benefits e  TENREMER 51,440 48,940
Contributions to defined contribution FERFERIKRGT B
retirement plans 1,702 2,389
53,142 51,329
(c) Otheritems (c) HftEE
Gross rental income from investment BEMENESWALERE
properties (308,131) (304,557)
Less: Direct outgoings W BEE W 97,405 96,865
(210,726) (207,692)
Auditor’s remuneration ZERN S
— audit services — ZER 1,384 1,384
— tax services — B ARTS 101 216
— other services — HAbARTS 391 391
Depreciation charge nEER 4,323 4,539
Impairment losses on accounts receivable U ER FORE BB (M 5E14(0))
(note 14(b)) 2,304 1,095
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

7 Directors’ Emoluments 7 ESHME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong BB BCRA AR Y 383(1) 1§ M« A 7 (]
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BEETZER)ROFE 2T RN ESHS
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: T
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme 2025
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e B BIREHE
BEswe REYDIR BETEAL R wma
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T F T

Executive Directors HITES

Cheong Kheng Lim SEIRM 100 2,370* 700 — 3,170
Cheong Keng Hooi SEAmEE 100 2,022 300 - 2,422
Cheong Sim Lam fEipede] 100 2,195 300 = 2,595
Cheong Chong Ling SEHRTS 100 1,753 120 24 1,997
Cheong Tiong Ham SEHR 100 2,416 120 24 2,660
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald $E#x#4 50 829 102 - 981

Independent Non- BIYFBTES

executive Directors

Chow Wan Hoi, Paul FEE 340 - - - 340
Wong Yiu Tak =RE 340 - - - 340
Tse Pang Yuen s T 170 - - - 170

1,400 11,585 1,642 48 14,675
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

7 Directors’ Emoluments (continued) 7 EEME @
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2024
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
#re o EEL RINETHE
BE5we KEDAR BRETEAL R ks
$'000 $'000 $000 $000 $000
Tt Tt T+ T Tt
Executive Directors HITES
Cheong Kheng Lim SEIRMR 100 2,828* 700 — 3,628
Cheong Keng Hooi sEAE 100 2,011 300 — 2,411
Cheong Sim Lam faede] 100 1,837 300 — 2,237
Cheong Chong Ling $BIEIS 100 1,796¢ 120 24 2,040
Cheong Tiong Ham F b 100 2,292 120 24 2,536
Cheong Chin Joo Gerald 48R4
(appointed with effect (R=—ZT-pFE—=
from 26 February 2024) A —-+7<H FF) 5 69 — — 74
Independent Non- BIUFHTES
executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul SEys] 340 - - - 340
Wong Yiu Tak EHRE 340 — — — 340
Tse Pang Yuen HS T 170 — — — 170
1,355 10,833 1,540 48 138,776
3 The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential property * EHEIREREEMLERETEMENE

to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim with an estimated rental value of approximately

$1,293,000 (2024: $1,293,000).

G The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential property

to Ms Cheong Chong Ling with an estimated rental value of approximately

$1,281,000 (2024: $1,281,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

8

Individuals with Highest Emoluments 8
The five highest paid individuals for 2025 and 2024 are all directors of

the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

Income Tax
Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive

(@)

income represents:

=1

=

B AL

T RER _TENEFERUSRSHE
MATHERRARNES - HWESEIER
BfIFE7 ©

Fit
(@)

=T

ReBaRHEMEEBARR
RHFFSHIER

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
F Ft
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax AEHIE — FBFBH
Provision for the year REFERIRLERE 17,784 17,829
Over-provision in respect of prior years AR FEEERTE )] (18)
17,775 17,811
Current tax — Mainland China REIBE — PEAH
— Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT”) — EFEH
Provision for the year ARFE IR 35 50
Deferred tax EERIE
Changes in fair value of investment BEMEAREENE
properties (131) (123)
Origination and reversal of temporary = B E A M E D)
differences 8,276 8,310
8,145 8,187
25,955 26,048

The provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%

(2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year,

except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying

corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For this

subsidiary, the first $2,000,000 of assessable profits are taxed at

8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was

calculated at the same basis in 2024. EIT is calculated based on

the applicable rate of taxation in accordance with the relevant tax

rules and regulations of Mainland China.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

9 Income Tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

9 FifE#ia@m

FriS iz M AR AR R E

SR (EB18) &

MAVE Bk -

2025 2024

$°000 $'000

Fr T

(Loss)/profit before taxation BEi AT (E518), i F) (576,295) 408,128
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, ¥ FAE 48 B0 SR IE 1S Y

calculated at the rates applicable to EAB R ERTA]

profits in the countries concerned (B18) /B FMmEEHE (95,016) 67,680

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ATHURS B E 124,761 1,297

Tax effect of non-taxable income BAEF BN ENBIER (3,781) (42,911)

Over-provision in prior years LA FEEERF © (18)

Actual tax expense ERRIES T 25,955 26,048

Current taxation in the consolidated statement

AR B IEAR AR TR O A A P

of financial position represents: BBA

2025 2024
$°000 $:000
Frx T

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax RNEFZEBRESTERE
for the year 17,784 17,829
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENEHFIEH (13,689) (15,796)
4,095 2,033
EIT R A — DTS - 5
4,095 2,038

Representing: RE:

Current tax recoverable TREAFEU TS (678) -
Current tax payable AEAFE TS HL 4,773 2,038
4,095 2,038
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

9 Income Tax (Continued) 9 Fﬁ/\:5f$ﬁ:(m§)
(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (d EEIAELEHEEERES
()  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets () ELEHEBEEERAGSHERK
and liabilities o HEE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities BELGA SRR ER IR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial BIE(EE),BEMAERNK D
position and the movements during the year are as follows: RNEEEENINT -
Depreciation
allowances
Revaluation in excess of
of investment the related
properties depreciation Total
kel
REYHE B ER
By MERBE #zE
$°000 $’000 $°000
T F Fr
Deferred tax arising from: XETHEEN
EAERIA :
At 1 April 2023 202354 H1H 28 114,462 114,490
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss ~ FE#B28m (5t A) /41K (123) 8,310 8,187
At 31 March 2024 MR2024F3H31H (95) 122,772 122,677
At 1 April 2024 R2024F481H (95) 122,772 122,677
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss ~ fEf8z (5t A) /3% (131) 8,276 8,145
At 31 March 2025 202543 831H (226) 131,048 130,822
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

9 Income Tax (continued)
(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(Continued)
(i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of

financial position

S ®)

ERPELHREEREE :

&)

(
(i) EREMBRRTRZEE

2025 2024
$000 $’000
Fx T
Net deferred tax asset in the consolidated EERE TR R RERTN
statement of financial position R TR E R R (226) (95)
Net deferred tax liability in the consolidated ~ fE4R & BAFEHA R R R
statement of financial position FEER RS EFR 131,048 122,772
130,822 122,677

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognised:
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(n),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $145,881,000 (2024: $145,881,000) as it
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and

entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

10 Dividends
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the year

10 k2
@ ANFEEMQAEZEERRRKRE

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid of BEEIR &
$0.06 per share (2024: $0.06 per share) AR HARS B & A%0.067T
(20244 : §R%0.067T) 28,484 28,484
Final dividend proposed after the end of RIRE B AR A BB E
the reporting period of $0.08 per share 7k AR B B & A%0.087T
(2024: $0.10 per share) (2024% : §H%0.107T) 37,979 47,473
66,463 75,957

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting

period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the previous

RIS MR B IRZE D IRHREIR
BHAERERRRERRAREE -

(b)) BRE-BBFERSQAE
HmBRR - WARFERER

financial year, approved and paid during the TR E
year
2025 2024
$°000 $:000
T Tt
Final dividend in respect of the previous BRE—HBEFE TR
financial year, approved and paid AN FEHEAE R AT HY
during the year, of $0.10 per share FERAR B &A%0.107T
(2024: $0.09 per share) (2024%F : Hf%0.097T) 47,473 42,726

11 (Loss)/Earnings Per Share — Basic and
Diluted
The calculation of basic (loss)/eamnings per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $321,982,000
(2024: a profit of $193,732,000) and 474,731,824 (2024: 474,731,824)
shares in issue during the year. There were no potential dilutive shares in

existence in 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#§R &R
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets 12 EEEE
(@) (@)
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
FEX
BEME Hitty % Hit&EE et k]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Tr Fr Fr Fr
Cost or valuation: AR HE -
At 1 April 2024 2024F4A1H 8,001,439 101,824 38,780 140,604 8,142,043
Exchange adjustments ek (166) = = = (166)
Additions #E 2,551 - 265 265 2,816
Disposals RE - - (109) (109) (109)
Fair value adjustments NREEFARE (753,794) - - - (753,794)
At 31 March 2025 720259 3A31H 7,250,030 101,824 38,936 140,760 7,390,790
Representing: ¥ :
Cost P& - 101,824 38,936 140,760 140,760
Valuation — 2025 B8 — 20255 7,250,030 - - - 7,250,030
7,250,030 101,824 38,936 140,760 7,390,790
Accumulated ZIiE
depreciation:
At 1 April 2024 20244 81H - 56,111 35,972 92,083 92,083
Charge for the year KEEFE - 3,335 988 4,323 4,323
Written back on disposals & & 5 [0] - - (108) (108) (108)
At 31 March 2025 M202563A31H - 59,446 36,852 96,298 96,298
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2025 720253 A31H 7,250,030 42,378 2,084 44,462 7,294,492

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

12 BIEEE@®m
(@ @

Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
REYHE Hib - BEREE
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
HFER
EEYE Hibz Hith&E et e
$000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
T T T T T
Cost or valuation: AR HE -
At 1 April 2023 2023F4A1H 7,771,462 101,824 38,401 140,225 7,911,687
Exchange adjustments ek (1,845) - — — (1,845)
Additions #E 917 - 818 818 1,735
Disposals BE - - (439) (439) (439)
Fair value adjustments NREEFARE 230,905 — — — 230,905
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A31H 8,001,439 101,824 38,780 140,604 8,142,043
Representing: REx :
Cost PR - 101,824 38,780 140,604 140,604
Valuation — 2024 1B — 2024%F 8,001,439 — — — 8,001,439
8,001,439 101,824 38,780 140,604 8,142,043
Accumulated ZIiE
depreciation:
At 1 April 2023 M2023F481H — 52,776 35,205 87,981 87,981
Charge for the year KEEITE - 3,335 1,204 4,539 4,539
Written back on disposals &z & B #4[al - - (437) (437) (437)
At 31 March 2024 M202443A31H — 56,111 35,972 92,083 92,083
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2024 720243 A31H 8,001,439 45,713 2,808 48,521 8,049,960
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment

properties

At 31 March 2025, investment properties comprise iISQUARE
(excluding an office on 9th Floor), certain floors of Goodluck
Industrial Centre, certain units of Good Luck Industrial Building,
a floor of Euro Trade Centre and a floor of Yi An Plaza. Other
properties comprise an office on 9th Floor of ISQUARE, certain
units of an industrial property, a unit of a commercial property and

two residential properties in Hong Kong.

(i) Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs

Tian Teck Land Limited K& #ts AR A A 132
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)

(b)

12 EEEE@)

Fair value measurement of investment (b) BREWENLAAEBEFTZ @
properties (Continued)

U

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i)
None of the Group’s investment properties measured at fair
value are categorised into Level 1 and Level 2 valuations.
The investment properties which are categorised into Level

3 valuations are analysed as below:

NABEER(E)
REEWEEARNRBEAEH
REMEGREE - EAREC
BAfhE - HBEREF=ERMA
BERMREMEITID

2025 2024
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Recurring fair value measurement RS ERERTTEN
AREE
Investment properties categorised into WEEEF-EREEN
Level 3 valuations: Tﬁ§%¥ :
— Commercial properties in Hong Kong ~ — RIRE BRI % 6,900,400 7,601,500
— Commercial properties in Mainland China — {37 7> [B8 PR 3 HY o 3 ) 2 28,360 29,839
— Industrial properties in Hong Kong — IR BB T 321,270 370,100
7,250,030 8,001,439
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there N E—BE-—FER T -NE

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of

the reporting period in which they occur.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)

12 BEEEE@m)

(b)

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i) Valuation process
The investment properties in Hong Kong and in Mainland
China were revalued at 31 March 2025 by Vigers Appraisal
and Consulting Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers who have among their staff Fellows of The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued, on a
market value basis. Management has discussion with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
The fair value of investment properties was determined
using income capitalisation approach which capitalised the
net rental income of the properties and taking into account
the occupancy rate and reversionary income potential
of properties after the expiry of the current leases. The

significant unobservable inputs are set out below:

(o) REMENQIAEETE@

(i) HERF
RZZE-_RAF=RA=+—H8" '
REBMP BRI EDE L
BB EEMGEM — Bg
HEEFHERAERAR(EE
ITHAEESIEMEBeE RS
B2 &  BHEWERZMEM
e B R FTEAA T EMERE 2
KB ) ETEM - B TIAER
Vs MEAERl - BEEED R
(S EAD S R e = (8 R AR 6 5 5
HAHETHERNBRRNER -

(i) FE=EBRAAEBEFENER
AEBERBEREEAMOE - B
EHFHSBAERE > YEE
AmEHERRERAROER
BREHORHES WAREERE
NEEREMENLABE E
RETAIBR B A BT ¢

Range of capitalisation rate Range of occupancy rate
ER{L L ENEE HEENEE
Investment properties REME 2025 2024 2025 2024
Commercial properties in Hong Kong  RIABBHEENE  3.10% — 5.00%  2.90% — 5.00%  77.1% — 100%  73.1% — 100%
Commercial properties in A B A A
Mainland China BENE 6.25% 6.00% 121% 23.6%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong ~ MIABEBNTEME  4.00% — 4.50%  4.00% — 450%  15.9% —100%  51.8% — 100%

The fair value measurement of investment properties is
positively correlated to the occupancy rate and negatively

correlated to the capitalisation rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

(Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these

12 EEEE @)
(b) BEWMEMNLAEBETZ @

(i)

E=EROABEAEHER

(%)

FEERNE=ERARBEES

Level 3 fair value measurement are as follows: MBI :
Commercial

Commercial properties Industrial

properties in Mainland properties

in Hong Kong China in Hong Kong

NREBN LR E R UREER

[GE2/ES [SEZ7ES TEY=

$°000 $°000 $°000

Frx Fr T

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 7,369,800 32,912 368,750
Exchange adjustments IE 5 g% - (1,845) —
Additions e 917 — —
Fair value adjustments RNABEAR 230,783 (1,228) 1,350
At 31 March 2024 20243 H31H 7,601,500 29,839 370,100
At 1 April 2024 1K2024F481H 7,601,500 29,839 370,100
Exchange adjustments [E W FE % - (166) -
Additions = 2,551 - —
Fair value adjustments N EBEARE (703,651) (1,313) (48,830)
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3H31H 6,900,400 28,360 321,270

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “valuation (losses)/gains on
investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All the valuation changes recognised in profit or
loss for the year arise from the properties held at the end of
the reporting period. The valuation changes will only affect
the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows of the

Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)

12 BEEEE@m)

(c) The analysis of net book value of properties is () YIEREFEMNIMUOT :
as follows:
2025 2024
$°000 $:000
T Tt
In Hong Kong, with remaining lease term of: EEE - FspHERA
— not less than 50 years — TP RRB0%F 94,200 121,400
— less than 50 years but not less than 10 years ~ — D RB0FEE R DM 0FE 7,169,848 7,895,913
Outside Hong Kong, with remaining EEBEIN  Flgg
lease term of: HERA
— less than 50 years but not less than 10 years ~ — D50 B DA 0 28,360 29,839
7,292,408 8,047,152
(d) other assets comprise furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor (d) EmBEaFEERM 8 RERA
vehicles. Ho
() The Group leases out investment properties under operating (e) HEBEACLEEHEBIREYE - BJLL

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7

leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to ten years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease payment
terms that are based on the revenue of tenants. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate recognised
as income in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2025
were $8,684,000 (2024: $21,958,000).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the

Group in future periods as follows:

HESVAY—F2+5F TAAESR
BEIERBER - BN ETREA
EFEE - FTHEREERESKAG
BH R ERENFEMER o TERRN
B R A SR ENRERNEE
T-HFZA=Z+—BULEFEEER
R RER AW A 58,684,0007T( —ZF = 1Y
£ : 21,958,0007T) °

AEBRBERIHE RS FET AR
REMEEARRMER LN ARITREE
fFRERMT

2025 2024

$'000 $000

Fr T

Within 1 year 1F A 215,001 189,315
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F1&EB2HER 167,328 126,057
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F £ IE3F A 102,651 88,976
After 3 years but within 4 years 3FZEAFR 66,398 72,355
After 4 years but within 5 years AFI&RIESFA 17,420 62,754
After 5 years 5F 1% - 17,420
568,798 556,877
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued)

(f)

13 S

Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, fixed assets with carrying value

of $6,846,265,000 (2024: $7,523,078,000) were pledged to

secure the bank loan (see note 20).

ubsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

12 EEEE @)

BERH

RBEBHELER  RITERZUE
[ {H /£56,846,265,0007T ( ZZ — U4 :
7,523,078,0007T ) & Bl & & E fE A A
(2B3FF5E20) -

()

13 B H]
TRINSAEBFTEHNBARFE - B R2E

FERAESN -

P BRI A B A -

Proportion of ownership interest

Frit 2t Al
Place of Group’s held
incorporation Particulars of issued effective by the held by
Name of company and operation and paid up capital holding ~ Company  subsidiary Principal activity
oA LK AW BALRE AKHEAR
DNEER Kend ERTRAZRAFE BRER o] BE FEEER
Associated International Hotels Limited Hong Kong $360,000,000 divided into 50.01% 46.41% 3.6% Property investment and
360,000,000 shares investment holding
N EREEERAR EA 360,000,00075 MEREEREER
360,000,000 8% (7
Sparkland Investments Limited Hong Kong $2 divided into 2 shares 100% 100% —  Investment holding
BE 27 R RERER
Harkam Limited Hong Kong §2 divided into 2 shares 100% - 100% Property and investment
holding
BRARAA 0 2RIk (D FAMZEERER
Metropolitan (International) Limited Hong Kong $8,000,000 divided into 100% 100% — Property investment
1,600,000 shares
BAER)BRAT BE 8,000,0007L5 5 NERE
1,600,0008 17
Associated International Resorts Limited ~ Hong Kong $20 divided into 2 shares 50.01% — 100% Inactive
) 2077 M2tk n TNaE
Diamond Town Limited Hong Kong $200,000 divided into 50.01% - 100% Property investment
200,000 shares
REARAT EA 200,0007L5 4 NERE
200,000 17
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

13 Subsidiaries (Continued) 13 Bﬁ%@ﬁ](g)
The following tables list out the summarised financial information relating TRV EE G EEEE AR AR A BE R
to Associated International Hotels Limited, the only subsidiary of the BERE «- ZARREAEEE—HEEKX
Group which has material non-controlling interests. Total ownership JEFEIR R HIM B AT o FEIERRIR R (G 4
interest held by non-controlling interests was 49.99%. The summarised R UR49.99% » TR 2V E AR E
financial information presented below represents the amounts before REBRNARIEETEABEEATREEE o

any inter-company elimination.

(@) Summarised results (@ X*ERZE
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Revenue WA 299,008 292,143
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income REE(EE), 55 K&
for the year FHRAREE (560,631) 376,759
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to FEIZERR AR R S RS AN R
non-controlling interests (1), %7 (280,268) 188,348
Dividends to non-controlling interests T IR A RS (73,787) (70,188)
(b) Summarised assets and liabilities b) BERAGBRHE
2025 2024
$°000 $000
T Tt
Non-current assets IERBEE 6,977,802 7,688,221
Current assets RENEE 636,074 629,610
7,613,876 8,317,831
Current liabilities mEaE (134,809) (138,714)
Non-current liabilities EnRBAE (330,993) (322,812)
(465,802) (461,526)
NET ASSETS BEFE 7,148,074 7,856,305
Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share FEFERR AR B RE RS A B A )
of the subsidiary’s net assets MEEFETRELDE 3,573,428 3,927,483
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

13 Subsidiaries (continued)
() Summarised cash flows

13 MEBR 8@
(c) BERERE

2025 2024

$°000 $000

Fr Fx

Net cash generated from operating activities KRBTGS EVIR £ 558 143,244 183,691

Net cash generated from investing activities HEEEERRE 5 20,098 22,553
Net cash used in financing activities mEEEFTANRE 5 (159,026) (152,145)

Net cash flows REenEFHE 4,316 54,099

14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 BUYWERR - ST RFENIR
Prepayments

2025 2024

$°000 $000

T Ft

Accounts receivable JFEUBR R 110,769 104,196

Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 14(b)) B EEEEERE

(Ft5E14(0)) (290) -

110,479 104,196

Deposits and prepayments HEDSEEN 9,984 10,250
120,463 114,446
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

. . == =
14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 EUNERRK ~ sTE RFEFRm
Prepayments (continued)
(@) Ageing analysis (@) BRERDHT
The ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net of allowance for RIS BERER - BIEERBERR
credit losses) which was included in accounts receivable, deposits 5l MBARAREWERR(EHkRE
and prepayments as of the end of the reporting period is as BEEEEE NREBOITIT ¢
follows:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Current (Note) REHA(5E) 101,147 89,328
Less than 1 month past due EER DR (R A 3,881 5,636
1 to 3 months past due #ER1 = 31E A 3,736 4,554
More than 3 months but less than 6 B A ME A 1B
12 months past due L1218 A 388 1,159
More than 12 months past due o ERER B 121 A 1,327 3,519
Amounts past due [ 9,332 14,868
110,479 104,196
Note: The amount includes the receivable for lease incentives of T EEEeEAERS RAHEE AR
$99,231,000 (2024: $88,893,000) which is not past due. The 780 HA & Ui BR $099,231,000T (= ZE =M
movement in the said receivable during the year will only affect F :88,893,0007T ) ° 7% & UK BR XA K
the accounting revenue but not the contractual cash flows of the FEEHREPELEEES LK
Group. A FﬁT@ﬁT, LEH |¢IE%/AL§ﬁW%Z
&,
Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and 10 to RA—RIETAEERE - BHRRRY
v , & 7Y <
14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be charged. —RAETRETHX - BHSBURA
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note B o AR E{EEBORH AL B S BT
23(a). 5123(8) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and

Prepayments (continued)

(b) Impairment of accounts receivable

14 YRR - T2 REN R @

(b) FEUWERFRE

The movement in the specific allowance for credit losses during REERNZEHEETCEEBEESHTT -
the year is as follows:

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
T Tt
At 1 April 2024/2023 12024/2023F4 A1H - 154
Impairment losses recognised (note 6(c)) BRI EEE (WE6(0) 2,304 1,095
Uncollectible amounts written off B  n] Y el 2R (2,014) (1,249)

At 31 March M3HA31H 290 -

15 Pledged Bank Deposits

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, bank deposits were pledged to a

designated bank to secure the bank loan (see note 20).

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

15 BEMRITER

RBE-_RAFER-_T-_NFE=A=+—H"

RITHERE BEEMR - ABER—FETERTT

HIRITER (2R ME20)

16 BERBEEEEY
(a BEeRRLZEBYERE

2025 2024

$’000 $°000

Fr Ft

Deposits with banks RITEETER 548,874 543,835
Cash at bank and in hand RITFERERS 23,988 26,742
572,862 570,577
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

16 Cash and Cash EQUiValentS (Continued) 16 EEE&IEE ff%(
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BMEEFEMMELE E’J eEzH
financing activities: B :
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRV AEERMEEBAELENAR
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. e EhRREReMIFREED - 7@
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which ﬁ}éiﬁﬁﬁ?iﬁ’gﬁ@ EZEENRE SR
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the B ARIBERERE D ERERE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing Eﬁﬁmiz‘%ﬁ‘\]ﬁﬂﬁyéiﬂ A e
activities.
Government
lease
Bank loan premiums Interest
— secured payable payables Total
RITER PEAS
— FiEH B 18 EAFIE i
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Frx Frx T
(Note 20) (Note 21)

(B7£20) (FifaE21)

At 1 April 2024 R2024F4818 200,000 1,492 239 201,731

Changes from financing MERSREEH !

cash flows:
Payment for government lease sz <t BT HO (B

premiums payable - (84) = (84)
Interest paid on government 2 BT HL{E R A

lease premiums payable - - (75) (75)
Interest paid on bank loan BEfTEITERFE — - (10,505) (10,505)
Other borrowing costs paid Eﬁﬁ‘rﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ? - - (762) (762)

Total changes from financing R EIR & REEEEEE

cash flows - (84) (11,342) (11,426)
Other changes: Hith @5 :
Interest on bank loan RITEIFE = = 10,438 10,438
Other borrowing costs H it & AR - - 730 730
Interest on government lease BT BRI E

premiums payable - - 71 71
Total other changes Hh#B)mzE - - 11,239 11,239
At 31 March 2025 A2025%€3 831 H 200,000 1,408 136 201,544
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16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 BERBEZEEBY @)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEZTBMEENEBZY
financing activities: (Continued) BR @)
Government
lease
Bank loan premiums Interest

— secured payable payables Total
RITER JEASS

— BiEH BURHE(E FEATFR #R

$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000

T T+t T T
(Note 20) (Note 21)

(B7£20) (FifaE21)

At 1 April 2023 7A2023F481H 200,000 1,572 372 201,944

Changes from financing MERSREEH !

cash flows:
Payment for government lease 32 <t BT HO (B

premiums payable — (80) - (80)
Interest paid on government 2 BT HL{E R A

lease premiums payable — - (79) (79)
Interest paid on bank loan BERITERFE — — (11,337) (11,337)
Other borrowing costs paid &1 EfbfE ZUk AR — - (249) (249)
Total changes from financing BB RS REL B

cash flows — (80) (11,665) (11,745)
Other changes: Hin @ g :
Interest on bank loan RITERF & - — 11,206 11,206
Other borrowing costs H A & AR — — 250 250
Interest on government lease BB T B,

premiums payable — — 76 76
Total other changes H B aazE — — 11,532 11,632
At 31 March 2024 A2024%E3 831 H 200,000 1,492 239 201,731
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17

18

19

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7

Other Payables and Accruals

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within

one year.

17

HAiES R ETEA
Fi 7 LA 3 R A B TR R — PO
fif o

Deposits Received 18 EWET=
All of the deposits received are expected to be settled within one year B T73,791,0005T ( ZZF =PI : 55,749,000
except for $73,791,000 (2024: $55,749,000) which is expected to be UG & TET R BB —FREMNIN - FTER
settled after more than one year. WETE TR —FRBN -
Provision for Long Service Payments 19 REIRBES%E®E
$°000
Fr
At 1 April 2024 R2024F4 /818 2,556
Provision made for the year NEFERHEERE 361
At 31 March 2025 7202593 A31H 2,917

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five years
of services with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that is
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not

set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was enacted in June
2022 which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits of employers’
mandatory contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and/or Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance to
offset severance payment and long service payment (the “Offsetting
Arrangement”). The abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement would
increase the state benefits that affect the long service payment payable

by the employer.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

20 Bank Loan — Secured

At 31 March 2025, the bank loan was repayable as follows:

20

fEl 5% — BEH

?ﬁiﬂJrE

fAEﬁlZD—F :
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
Fr T
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FZE2FER 200,000 —
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBBE5FER - 200,000
200,000 200,000

On 7 October 2013, the Company’s subsidiary, Associated International
Hotels Limited, entered into a facility agreement with a bank for banking
facilities of up to $300,000,000. Following the first supplemental
agreement for extension of the facilities to 8 October 2021, the
subsidiary entered into the second supplemental agreement with the
bank on 23 August 2021 for extension of the facilities for three years to 8
October 2024. With the agreement of the lending bank, the facilities have
been further extended for two additional years to 8 October 2026. The
banking facilities were secured by a debenture incorporating a first fixed
legal charge over certain fixed assets (see note 12(f)) and a first floating
charge over certain bank deposits (see note 15). At 31 March 2025, the
outstanding bank loan was $200,000,000 (2024: $200,000,000).

The subsidiary’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfiiment of
covenants relating to certain of the subsidiary’s consolidated statement
of financial position ratios and maintenance of capital at certain required
levels. If the subsidiary were to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. The Group regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been

breached.

145

RZZE—=F+A+tA AARNHBA
7 — S BRAE AR A R R TR
T —154 300,000,000 HIREE 3% - BE
— AR REERERERE S —F
TANBZ%  ZHBRARR=-ZT=_—FN
R +T=HHEZRITAILE LT HE -
EREHRBER="FE-_T-_WF+AN
B EEFRITAET & HREEE
—SEEMEE_ZS=-~F+A/\A o &R
TRERAN—HOBEEETETEE (2B
FH12(f) B —EE AT HERE TRTE
F(2HME5)MEZBRENERER
A % T-RF=A=+—H " KEE
RI4R 1T & 30 2200,000,0007T ( —Z — PU4F :
2oaooop00nﬁ<

o|

ZMBARMRITR A RERITREZIMNE A

AIME THRAEVBRARLE X EBNZHEER
FRMA  WARKRERE —TEHNHREK
o MZMBARIERZERR - AIARB

HEREEDRINEER A5E2TEH
EREREHAELEH - N_T_HAFRK
—E-NFE=ZA=1+—8  ZHBRARLE

EREMERRIEER BN -

Annual Report 2024-2025 &3}



Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

21 Government Lease Premiums Payable 21 BEEFHE
At 31 March 2025, the government lease premiums payable was R-ZBE-_RF=A=+—H  ENKRFHE
repayable as follows: REFREAAT -
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Within 1 year (amount included in 1FA(BIBTEEMEN R
other payables and accruals) EEFERR) 89 84
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F1£E2FR 93 89
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F IR HIFEN 97 93
After 3 years but within 4 years 3FBBLFA 103 97
After 4 years but within 5 years AF1ZE5F A 107 103
After 5 years 5F 1% 919 1,026
1,319 1,408
1,408 1,492
Interest on government lease premiums payable is chargeable at a fixed FERT BT HE T BRI R EE AR EE F
rate of 5% (2024: 5%) per annum on the outstanding balance. FZ5E(=ZZF Py : 5 ):tHE -
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22 Capital and Reserves

(@)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

22 EAXRNf#HE

a) REREREBHHE
AEBERA W ) &R 5K 5 B HAAT)
ERHAR AR BR - SIS A R
R o NN AR FE Y FLEE RIS
MR IS D M BRSO T

\

—

Share Retained
capital earnings Total
€S R RF B
$°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr T
Balance at 1 April 2023 7R2023F4 51 A &R 121,830 382,864 504,694
Profit and total comprehensive REZ RN REERA
income for the year Fak) — 70,576 70,576
Dividends approved in respect of  BR F—BEE#ER
the previous financial year 9=} — (42,726) (42,726)
Dividends declared in respect of BRAMBFEE SR
the current financial year i) - (28,484) (28,484)
Balance at 31 March 2024 and A2024F3A318 K
1 April 2024 2024F4 A1 A& 121,830 382,230 504,060
Profit and total comprehensive AEEmA R EEWA
income for the year 1ERE - 26,941 26,941
Dividends approved in respect of B F—BI B EEH#ER
the previous financial year [iids - (47,473) (47,473)
Dividends declared in respect of BRAMBFEE KA
the current financial year [ids - (28,484) (28,484)
Balance at 31 March 2025 202553 A 31 HVAEER 121,830 333,214 455,044
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22 Capital and Reserves (continued) 22 BEARKGEE @
(b) Share capital (b) M
2025 2024
Number of Number of
shares $°000 shares $'000
RHOEE Fr SR Tt
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR :
Shares petn 474,731,824 121,830 474,731,824 121,830
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies RIBEFACA BERFIYE1351E - KA A
Ordinance, the shares of the Company have no nominal value. AR I M (E o
The holders of shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared BRDEE A RN EIRAARE
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at WA FEARNTIAE FEEE —IRIRMNDE
meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to —F  HRARAINFIREE - FTAR
the Company’s residual assets. NIZHREER
(c) Nature and purpose of revaluation reserve () EfRFBIMENAR
The revaluation reserve represents hotel properties revaluation BEREERIENFFEECERANEEY
surpluses and other properties revaluation surplus recognised in ¥EHBBNMNEMYESHBENG - 2B
prior years. The hotel has been redeveloped into ISQUARE. Upon EEEEABKRES - RENEEERE
the retirement or disposal of the properties, any related revaluation MER  TREENEGRGEHER
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained FEBARBERN o LREBETAI DK
earnings. The reserve is non-distributable. 7Y o
(d) Distributability of reserves (d) "D IS
At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of reserves available for RZTE-_RAF=RA=+—8 ' 1RBE

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7

distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was $75,756,000 (2024: $81,202,000). After the end
of the reporting period, the Directors proposed a final dividend
of $0.08 per share (2024: $0.10 per share), amounting to
$37,979,000 (2024: $47,473,000) (note 10). This dividend has not

been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
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22 Capital and Reserves (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by leasing properties and pricing
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher member returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy remained

unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as total bank loan over total equity
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As
at 31 March 2025, the Group’s gearing ratio was 2.7% (2024:
2.4%) with bank deposits and cash exceeding total bank loan of

$378,537,000 (2024: $379,879,000).
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the

normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management

policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(@ Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts
receivable, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to this

credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound

credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit

risk.

In respect of accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and 10 to
14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be charged.
Legal action will be taken against past due debtors whenever
the situation is appropriate. The Group obtains deposits from
customers (see note 18) as collateral over accounts receivable
to cover potential exposure to credit risk. At 31 March 2025 and

2024, the expected credit losses for accounts receivable were

measured and loss allowance was provided.

Tian Teck Land Limited XEitEGR A 7
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

(Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any
collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the statement of financial position after deducting
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide any other

guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are set

out in note 14.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and an
adequate amount of committed banking facilities to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay:
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

23 HEREMmEERA

(b) REVEZEPE®

AEE@m

2025
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
RHRTRRERE

More than More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5years 5years Total amount

15R3 BE1E BBk
BREEAN BAReE BARsE 2855 2 KEE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T Tr T T Tr Tr
Other payables and accruals Rt RE &R 22,700 = = = 22,700 22,684
Deposits received BlETe 36,759 27,657 46,134 - 110,550 110,550
Bank loan — secured RITER —BER 9,255 204,818 - - 204073 200,000
Government lease premiums payable [ERT BB - 159 41 1,111 1,741 1,319
68,714 232,634 46,611 1,111 349,070 334,553

2024
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
BNATRRERE

More than More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1M, BhE oy Epis
RERAE EvE {BARoE eyl ] KaE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T R T R R
Other payables and accruels BN LR 29017 - - - 29017 29,199
Deposits received ElE e 57,559 18,853 24,678 12,218 113,308 113,308
Bank loan — secured JITER —BER 11,403 11,403 205,935 - 208,741 200,000
Government lease premiums payable B - 159 477 1,270 1,906 1,408
98,179 30,415 231,090 13,488 373,172 343,915
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values 23 BIEBEER A AEE @

(Continued)
(€) Interest rate risk € FZEEp
The Group'’s interest rate risk primarily arises from bank loan. AEEHFERBREZREBFITERK ©
The bank loan borrowed at variable rates expose the Group to FERIRITEREASEEAZIESR
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as SNXREAR AEBEIEEBERAF X
monitored by management is set out in (i) below. BESL LT () ATt ©
()  Interest rate profile ()  FI=BER
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TREVINREABREHARE
Group’s borrowings with significant interest rate risk BFTREEFEARFNERBAOE
exposure at the end of the reporting period: R, -

2025 2024
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERF=E $000 ERFIE $'000
% T % T
Fixed rate borrowings: EEMBK
Government lease premiums FET BT B
payable 5.00 1,408 5.00 1,492
Variable rate borrowings: FEMER
Bank loan — secured RITER — AT 4.63 200,000 5.70 200,000
Total 4 201,408 201,492
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23 Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 50 (2024: 75) basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s loss after tax and decreased/
increased the retained profits by approximately $835,000
(2024: decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax and

the retained profits by approximately $1,253,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (2024: profit after tax)
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s loss after tax (2024:
profit after tax) (and retained profits) is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis

for 2024.

Currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as

substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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24

25

Employee Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administrated by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000.
In addition to the mandatory contribution, the Group makes voluntary
contribution at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income in
excess of $30,000, subject to a maximum monthly income of $40,000.
Mandatory contributions to the plan vest immediately while voluntary
contributions to the plan vest on the scale based on the years of service
of the employees until full vesting after completing 10 years of service,
subject to certain conditions. The staff costs in respect of staff employed
by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited for building
and property management of iISQUARE are reflected in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

During the year, no forfeited contributions (2024: Nil) was utilised to
reduce the contributions payable for the year. No unutilised forfeited
contributions had yet to be applied by the Group at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2025 not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

24

25
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HIISHRER AR BN E A REDT ¢

2025 2024

$°000 $'000

F FT

Contracted for EEES) = 949
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

26 Company-level Statement of Financial 26 R—E-_FFE=BA=+—H%&
Position at 31 March 2025 N BB H R B ASARR
2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
bz F Ft
Non-current assets ERBEE
Fixed assets BETEE
— Investment properties — AW 288,330 331,900
Interest in subsidiaries REB A RRIRERS 169,116 171,043
457,446 502,943
Current assets REBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and FEWERR - BT K
prepayments TEfF R 776 533
Current tax recoverable REREUR AT 1S HR 678 —
Cash and cash equivalents e MREEEY 60,494 61,907
61,948 62,440
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals Hih e K et & 3,844 5,207
Deposits received BEWETE 2,015 2,615
Provision for long service payment REARRTS & B 10 -
Current tax payable INERFERTERTS TR - 287
5,869 8,109
Net current assets REBEERE 56,079 54,331
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRTHERS 513,525 557,274
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary RSB A R FE 57,107 51,846
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIIA B E 1,374 1,368
58,481 53,214
NET ASSETS EEFE 455,044 504,060
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

26 Company-level Statement of Financial 26 R—_E-_RFE=A=+—H*%
Position at 31 March 2025 (continued) N T FE TH Y B IS AROR 3% ()
2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
b T T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRK G 22
Share capital k&N 22(b) 121,830 121,830
Reserves =X 333,214 382,230
TOTAL EQUITY EERBH 455,044 504,060
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June EEeN_ZE_-_1F —t+tEH&% AN
2025. B {as
Cheong Kheng Lim Cheong Chong Ling ) )
Director Director SEEM EIRIR
27 Immediate Parent and Ultimate Controlling 27 BESATMRRIEER
Party
At 31 March 2025, the Directors consider the immediate parent and sEEelds AEER_ZE-_FF=AH

ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong. This entity

does not produce financial statements available for public use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

28 Possible Impact of Amendments, New 28 EMEAEEBE—ZT_HF=
Standards and Interpretations Issued A=1T—HLEFERKRERD
But Not Yet Effective for the Year Ended 1&5] ~ FERIMZEN TS
31 March 2025 =
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has HEAPBHRERZLEBE  ESTMAE
issued a number of new or amended standards which are not yet CEMREBE S AF=A=+—HItF
effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not been BERAREW  INREEAMEREFERANZ
adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the T e S ETHIERN o SFLLER|BYLBIET
following which may be relevant to the Group. FIn LB AR EEARIER ©

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

EUT PRz

BRMETH IR AN

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — 1 January 2026
Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments

(BEVBRELEDEIENEIT @R ITA I RKEBUBHRELENDETHEHEF €mIA 20261 A1H

WE | — [EMT AN BERFTEZEFT

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

(BAMBRELNGHEINNFELE — F1111

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

(BAMBRELERDE 18K HHEHRT 2T R HE]

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
(EBMBRELERDF1UMEIEAKEZTEENNE AR - R

1 January 2026
20261 A1H

1 January 2027
20271 A1H

1 January 2027
20271 H1H

The adoption of these amendments is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Five Year Financial Summary

HFEMEESE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L4 & # 5l 7R )

Results ¥EiF
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
$000 $000 $000 $000 $°000
Fr FiT Fr Fr T
Revenue WA 444 882 310,348 309,877 304,557 308,131

(Loss)/profit from operations  REYELEEHEMN

after valuation changes in K (E8) wR

investment properties (1,486,243) (1,081,932) (1,516,278) 419,660 (565,056)
Finance costs REE R AR (3,047) (2,981) (6,057) (11,532) (11,239)
(Loss)/profit before taxation  BRELAT (E5E), 7% (1,489,290) (1,084,913) (1,522,335) 408,128 (576,295)
Income tax FriSHi (50,955) (29,397) (29,221) (26,048) (25,955)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(FR),=F (1,540,245)  (1,114,310)  (1,551,556) 382,080 (602,250)
Attributable to: THALHEM
— Equity shareholder of the — NEfEARR

Company (777,623) (554,024) (759,345) 193,732 (321,982)

— Non-controlling interests — JEIEAR AR SR (762,622) (560,286) (792,211) 188,348 (280,268)

(1,540,245) (1,114,310) (1,551,556) 382,080  (602,250)
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Five Year Financial Summary AFiEHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( B4 7% ¥ 31 7 )

Assets and Liabilities EEKEE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

T T Tt T Fr

Fixed assets EBE 10,798,767 9,533,549 7,823,706 8,049,960 7,294,492

Deferred tax assets EEFTEE E — — — 95 226

Net current assets mENEEFE 257,555 472,534 524,693 547 224 558,754

11,056,322 10,006,083 8,348,399 8,597,279 7,853,472

Bank loan — secured IRITER — HIEH - (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)  (200,000)
Government lease premiums FES BT (B

payable (1,649) (1,572) (1,492) (1,408) (1,319)

Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIBAE (97,486) (105,980) (114,490) (122,772) (131,048)

NET ASSETS BEFE 10,957,187 9,698,531 8,032,417 8,273,099 7,521,105

Share capital %N 121,830 121,830 121,830 121,830 121,830

Reserves R 5,547,559 4,917,577 4,101,264 4,223,786 3,825,847

5,669,380 5,039,407 4,223,004 4345616 3,947,677

Non-controlling interests FERRRER 5,287,798 4,659,124 3,809,323 3,927,483 3,573,428

TOTAL EQUITY R 10,957,187 9,698,531 8,032,417 8,273,099 7,521,105
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